DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 355 312 UD 029 080

AUTHOR Ascher, Carol; Burnett, Gary

TITLE Current Trends and Issues in Urban Education, 1993.

Trends and Issues No. 19.

INSTITUTION ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education, New York,

N.Y.

SPONS AGENCY Office of Educational Research and Improvement (ED),

Washington, DC.

REPORT NO TI-19
PUB DATE Feb 93
CONTRACT RI88062013

NOTE 84p

AVAILABLE FROM ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education, Box 40,

Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, NY

10027.

PUB TYPE Information Analyses - ERIC Clearinghouse Products

(071)

EDRS PRICE

MF01/PC04 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS

Academic Achievement; Bilingual Education;

*Disadvantaged Youth; Dropout Prevention; Educational Assessment; Educational Policy; *Educational Trends; Elementary Secondary Education; Equal Education; Heterogeneous Grouping; Minority Group Children; Multicultural Education; *Public Schools; School

Choice; School Restructuring; Student Characteristics; *Urban Education

ABSTRACT

This paper reviews 1993 trends and issues in urban education in five sections. Following an introduction, the first section describes the economic conditions of today's diverse urban ric school students and the way that poverty differentially affects various ethnic and racial student groups. A second section analyzes key educational policies affecting urban students: school choice, desegregation, magnet schools, and school finance. A third section reviews a variety of special programs for students disadvantaged by poverty, minority status, and/or disability. A fourth section reviews a group of linked practices that are in the midst of turmoil and change because they all seek to handle the growing diversity among students in a new way. This section covers testing and tracking, instructional practices for heterogeneous groups of students; student learning styles; and three popular models for school restructuring: Accelerated Schools, the School Development Program, and Success for All. A final section looks at the role of parents in educational reform. An author biography is included. (Contains 187 references.) (JB)



^{*} Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made * from the original document.

CURRENT TRENDS AND ISSUES IN URBAN EDUCATION, 1993

Carol Ascher and Gary Burnett Teachers College, Columbia University

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improvement
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as sectived from the person or organization originating it

- ☐ Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality
- Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy



ERIC® Clearinghouse on Urban Education Institute for Urban and Minority Education Box 40, Teachers College, Columbia University New York, New York 10027



CURRENT TRENDS AND ISSUES IN URBAN EDUCATION, 1993

Carol Ascher and Gary Burnett Teachers College, Columbia University

Trends and Issues No. 19
ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education
Institute for Urban and Minority Education
February 1993



ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education Box 40, Teachers College Columbia University New York, New York 10027 212/678-3433

Director: Erwin Flaxman

Assistant Director: Larry R. Yates Managing Editor: Wendy Schwartz

This publication was produced by the ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education with funding from the Office of Educational Research and Improvement, United States Department of Education, under contract number R188062013, and from Teachers College, Columbia University. The opinions expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the position or policies of OERI or the Department of Education.

Copies are available from the ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education.

Copies are also available from the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS), 7420 Fullerton Road, Springfield, VA 22153, 1-800-443-ERIC, both on microfiche and paper. Contact the Clearinghouse or EDRS for full ordering information.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Today's Urban Students	3
Ethnicity	3
Poverty in America	5
Poverty and Social Isolation of Inner-City Children	8
Poverty, Race/Ethnicity, and Achievement	9
The Effects of School Policies on Achievement and Equality	14
Desegregation	15
Magnet Schools	18
School Choice	20
Equality and School Finance	24
Policies and Practices for Educating Special Needs	
Students	28
Head Start	29
Chapter 1	31
Bilingual Education	33
Dropout Prevention	35
Moving from Special Needs to Systemic Change	38
Standardized Testing and New Forms of Assessment	38
From Tracking to Detracking	41
Restructuring Models	45
Heterogeneous Groupings and Cooperative	
Education	49
Multicultural Education	51
Learning Styles Issues	53
Parent Involvement	57
School-Community Relations	60
Conclusion	61
References	63
Biography of Author	79



CURRENT TRENDS AND ISSUES IN URBAN EDUCATION

Introduction

Today, particularly in our nation's cities, American students present "a new order of pluralism" with their overwhelming range of backgrounds, languages, gifts, and needs (Hodgkinson, 1988; p. 14). And this growing pluralism is not likely to come to a halt in the near future. Severe and long-term poverty is likely to continue afflicting urban students. Also, the diversity of their language backgrounds will continue to increase. In Los Angeles and San Francisco, approximately 30 percent of public school students are Limited English Proficient, while in Albuquerque the number is nearly 43 percent (Donato & Garcia, 1992). Homelessness, teenage pregnancy, female-headed households, drug abuse—these, too, have become part of the imagery of today's "diverse" students.

To ground this 1993 review of trends and issues in urban education, we begin by describing the economic conditions of today's diverse public school students, particularly those in urban areas, and the way that poverty differentially affects various ethnic and racial student groups. We then analyze differences in their educational performance, with the understanding that any data on how well a group of students is learning are also in part a function of the measuring instruments and in part a description of how successfully the school is teaching them.

A second section analyzes key educational policies, both old and new, affecting urban students: school choice, desegregation, including magnet schools, and school finance. Whil: a plethora of issues could be treated, both here and in the remaining sections we have followed the concerns made prominent by large numbers of researchers who have



consistently examined urban schools, including the changes they have undergone, over the past decade.

In a third section, we review a variety of special programs for students disadvantaged by poverty, minority status, and/or disability. Created on the assumption that public schools are adequate for the majority of students, but that disadvantaged students need "something extra" (Hill & McDonnell, 1992), such programs include Head Start, Chapter 1, bilingual education, and dropout prevention programs.

Finally, a fourth section reviews a group of linked practices which are in the midst of turmoil and change because they all seek to handle the growing diversity among students in a new way. We begin with testing and tracking, and move on to an analysis of three popular models for school restructuring: Accelerated Schools, the School Development Program, and Success for All. Instructional practices for heterogeneous groups of students, and the issue of student learning styles complete our review of pedagogical changes occurring in behalf of diverse students. Finally, we look at the role of parents in educational reform. These are not practices or programs for "special needs" students, like those described in the third section, but are basic reforms for creating school-wide changes to transform education for all students.

Because any racial or ethnic term is a social designation as well as a term of self-identification, we follow the current preferences of most groups in designating the name of their group. We therefore use the terms African Americans, Hispanic Americans, and Asian Americans when we are speaking of any of these groups in isolation, although when we compare African Americans with whites, we often use the more common Bureau of Census designation, black and white. When treating Bureau of Census data, we also use the term Asian/Pacific Islander, although it likely includes the same peoples as those designated by the more common designation,

Asian Americans. To designate the comprehensive group of students who are not white, we avoid the negative term, nonwhite, preferring to use minority. Although "minority" students are rapidly becoming much more than a numerical minority in the United States, the word minority still applies because their lower power and status in the society.

TODAY'S URBAN STUDENTS

Ethnicity

For much of the nearly 40 years since Brown v. Board of Education, the critical questions asked about the educational opportunities offered by any school system have centered on race. Since residential segregation remains a fundamental feature of American life, this concern for equal educational opportunity has translated into questions about whether African American students were enrolled in segregated schools, or whether they attended the same schools as white students.

Yet during the last decade, our national ambivalence about solving problems caused by racial differences has become complicated and obscured by the arrival of eight million immigrants from Europe, Africa, South America and Asia, bringing two million students whose native language is something other than English into the nation's schools. In fact, today the 20 million foreign-born people living in the United States constitute eight percent of the total population (Schmidt, 1992), or just a slightly smaller percentage than the African American population.

With the arrival of millions of new immigrants, 80 percent of whom are from the many and varied countries comprising Latin America, Asia, and the Pacific Islands, black and white Americans now comprise a smaller share of the nation's population. While blacks and whites together



accounted for nearly 95 percent of the population in the 1980 census, by 1990 these two groups had shrunk dramatically, to only 86 percent of the population (Hacker, 1992). In the same period, the Asian/Pacific Islander population increased by 108 percent, and the Hispanic population, which also has extremely high levels of immigration, increased by 53 percent. Although whites (not of Hispanic origin) increased slightly between 1980 and 1990, from 180.3 million to 188.1 million, this group dropped from 80 percent to 75.6 percent of the population (Bureau of the Census, 1991). In this last census, Hispanics, Asians, Native Americans, and Hawaiians—the nation's fastest growing groups—outnumbered African Americans (Hacker, 1992).

America's new immigrants are young and often have large families. While whites now average 1.7 children in a lifetime, Mexican Americans average 2.9 children, and Cambodians and Hmong average 7.4 and 11.9 children, respectively (Kellogg, 1988). Thus, an even more noticeable student population change has occurred within the public schools. First, as with their families, the new immigrant students are highly concentrated. Over three-fourths of all immigrant students attend schools in just five states: Florida, Texas, California, New York, and Illinois (Hill & McDonnell, 1992). Immigrants are also highly concentrated in urban areas. For example, 94 percent of all Asian/Pacific Islanders lived in metropolitan areas in 1991, and the percentage was even higher among recent immigrants (Bureau of Census, 1992).

The large numbers of immigrant students have changed the image of American schools from being African American and white to being centers of many colors, cultures, and languages. While non-Hispanic white students constituted 76 percent of all public school students as late as 1976, by 1986, they comprised just over 70 percent. At the same time, African American students had increased from 15.5 percent to 16.1 percent, Hispanics from 6.4 percent to almost 10 percent, and Asians from



1.2 to 2.8 percent of all students. Despite the continuing small numbers of Hispanics and Asians relative to whites, the increase was almost 45 percent for Hispanics and 116 percent for Asians in just ten years (Ogle, Alsalam, & Rogers, 1991). By the turn of the century, 75 percent of all Asians between 3 and 24 years old living in this country will be immigrants or children of immigrants who arrived after 1980 (Ima, 1991).

Nevertheless, racism—the sense of America as a tense and divided society, with blacks and whites as the prototypic unequal partners—remains real both inside and outside schools. Residential segregation and other structures of inequality create a grid of black and white. In schools, as in the rest of the society, the differences between the opportunities offered to black and white students have become both a prototype for and a symbol of inequality, and continue to stimulate studies of the education system that examine the differences in access and achievement for white, black, and other students (Cibulka, 1992).

Poverty in America

By the late 1980s, the income gap between families with the highest and lowest incomes had become wider than in any year since 1947 (Reed & Sautter, 1990). While the poorest 20 percent of all families dropped to less than 5 percent of the national income, the wealthiest 20 percent of all families increased from 44 percent in 1980 to 47 percent in 1989—the largest share of the national income ever recorded (Reed & Sautter, 1990; Waldrop & Exter, 1991).

Currently, the American lower class constitutes 42 percent of the population, up from 31 percent in 1969 ("Census Data...," 1992). Moreover, the United States now has the highest rate of poverty among industrialized nations. By the fall of 1992, even after discounting the growing numbers of homeless people, poverty had risen sharply over the past two years,



increasing by 4.2 million to a total of 35.7 million, or 14.2 percent of the population. Not surprisingly, rates of poverty varied by ethnic groups. For white Americans, the poverty rate rose to 11.3 percent last year, up from 10.7 percent in 1990; for African Americans, the poverty rate rose to 32.7 percent last year, up from 31.9 percent in 1990; for Hispanic Americans, it rose from 28.1 percent in 1990 to 28.7 percent in 1991; and for Asian Americans, the poverty rate rose to 13.8 percent last year, up from 12.2 percent in 1990 (Pear, 1992). In fact, the generally low rate of poverty among Asian families should not obscure extremely high poverty among some Asian groups: for example, over a third of all Vietnamese families, and 90 percent of all Hmong families are poor (Bureau of Census, 1992; Ima, 1991).

Of all age groups, children have been most affected by poverty. The rate of poverty for children under 18 has been climbing steadily, reaching 19.6 percent in 1989, 20.5 percent in 1990, and 21.8 percent in 1991 (Pear, 1992). In fact, since 1975, children have been poorer than any other age group. To put it another way, a child is six times likelier to be poor than an elderly person (Hodgkinson, 1988). By 1989, children accounted for nearly 40 percent of America's poor. In the 1980s, while the number of American billionaires quintupled, the number of poor children jumped by 23 percent (Reed & Sautter, 1990). Again, while most poor children are white, the highest percentage of poor children is black (Hodgkinson, 1988).

The connection between childhood poverty and family circumstance is by now well-documented. Children living in a family headed by a person under 15 have nearly a fifty-fifty chance of being poor, and children living in a family headed by a woman have a greater than fifty percent chance of being poor. African American and Hispanic children in families headed by women are even more likely to be poor: 56 percent of families headed by single black women are poor, while 59 percent of

families headed by single Hispanic women are poor (Reed & Sautter, 1990). While the median earnings of Asian/Pacific Islander families were higher than those of whites, this is in large part because 63 percent of them had two or more incomes and 19 percent had three or more incomes. Among single, female-headed Asian/Pacific Island households, 22 percent were poor (Bureau of the Census, 1992; Ima, 1991).

Not surprisingly, poverty and living in a single-parent household increase the likelihood of both living in substandard housing and homelessness. While households with incomes below the poverty level have increased, the stock of low-rental housing units has decreased. By 1989, there were eight million low-income renters competing for four million housing units—and the discrepancy has continued to grow, pushing up the price of low-income rentals. Moreover, at the end of the 1980s single parents paid 58 percent of their incomes in rent, and young single parents with children living with them paid 81 percent of their income in rent. When housing eats up such a large percentage of the family income, a single disaster—from illness to car breakdown—can suddenly send the family out onto the street. It is not surprising, then, that families comprise over half of the homeless population, and that most homeless families are headed by women with two or three children under the age of five (Hodgkinson, 1989).

Finally, the educational attainment of parents is a critical determinant in the likelihood of a child's being poor. Although education has a differential impact, depending on race, the poverty rate among married-couple families headed by high school dropouts is between two and three times the poverty rate of families headed by a high school graduate. Poverty among female-headed households—always higher than among married-couple families—is further aggravated when the household head is a high school dropout. Among white families headed by someone under 25 with a high school diploma, the poverty rate is just under 60



percent, but it rises to nearly 85 percent among those families headed by a dropout under 25. Among female-headed black families, while almost 70 percent of those headed by a high school graduate under 25 are poor, this percentage increases to 93 percent among those families headed by a high school dropout (Children's Defense Fund, 1991).

Poverty and Social Isolation of Inner-City Children

Poverty among children is particularly extreme in a number of American cities. Child poverty rates rose in 84 of the 100 largest cities in the 1980s, from 24.8 percent in 1979 to 28 percent in 1989. In fact, in a number of large cities the child poverty rate far exceeds these percentages, rising to over 40 percent: Detroit (46.6 percent), Laredo, Texas (46.4 percent), New Orleans (46.3 percent), Flint, (44.6 percent), Miami (44.1 percent), Hartford (43.4 percent), Gary, (43.0 percent), Cleveiand (43.0 percent), Atlanta (42.9 percent), and Dayton (40.9 percent) (Children's Defense Fund, 1992).

Although there are no national data on the social isolation of poor and minority children, Wilson's classic study of Chicago, *The Truly Disadvantaged* (1987), has spawned a number of studies of other cities which generally corroborates his hypothesis about the increasing concentration of inner-city poverty and the growing isolation of poor, inner-city blacks from middle-class role models and institutions (see, for example, Massey & Eggers, 1990). However, while Wilson argued for the declining importance of race, several studies suggest that, because of the "skewed" class distribution of African Americans, race continues to be critical in determining the environment of black children. For example, analyses by Massey (1992) suggest that racial segregation has shaped, and to a large extent determined, the socioeconomic environment experienced by poor minority families, creating persistent concentrations of poverty among blacks in American cities. Massey also shows how racial segregation



"undermines the socioeconomic environment faced by poor blacks and leaves their communities extremely vulnerable to any downturn in the economy." He argues that there is a "dynamic feedback relationship between segregation, black socioeconomic status, and discrimination, whereby rising segregation increased black-white occupational differences" (p. 2). The fall in black socioeconomic status in turn raises the level of discrimination in the housing market, which increases the level of black-white segregation.

Poverty, Race/Ethnicity, and Achievement

How does poverty affect students' chances for school success? For more than two decades, Equal Educational Opportunity by James Coleman and his associates (Coleman, Campbell, Hobson, McPartland, Moody, Weinfeld, & York, 1966), has been the keystone of educational debate in its suggestion that the social class of parents is so important to achievement that the schools are relatively helpless to affect the fate of low-income students.

Corroborating Coleman's findings are dramatic data from the First International Mathematics Study, which compared math scores of school children in the US with those of other industrialized nations, such as Germany, Japan, Korea, and Taiwan. Although the international data on poverty were sparse, virtually all the variation in mean test scores could be predicted by the poverty rates of children in the various countries.

Moreover, 60 percent of that variation was predicted by the poverty rate among children in single-parent households—and the US far surpassed all other nations in the poverty rate of children living with single parents (Jaeger, 1992).

Poverty in the United States affects some groups of students more severely than it does others, largely because of the number of years they



spend in poverty and the concentration of poverty around them. Analyses of two 1980s databases—one drawn from Chapter 1 students; the other, the Panel Survey of Income Dynamics—shed important light on the severity of the students' poverty conditions, both in terms of the longevity of their poverty and the concentration of poverty in their environment. The analyses show a clear association between the length of time students—black or white—are poor and the likelihood that they will be behind their expected grade level (Orland, 1990).

It is important to recognize that, even after controlling for other factors, such as gender or mother's educational level, the length of time a student experiences poverty is statistically associated with falling behind in grade level. Further, race affects how long a child is likely to spend in poverty. While the black children sampled in Orland's study were poor for an average of 5.4 of their first 15 years, nonblack children were poor for an average of less than a year. Roughly one in four black children were poor for ten years or more, while only one in 200 white children were poor for a comparable period. Thus, while white students may be more affected than black students by equal amounts of poverty, black students tend to experience longer poverty and to live in areas with higher concentrations of poverty.

Hispanic and Asian students are not included in these data, but research conducted as part of the National Educational Longitudinal Study of 1988 suggests a similar confluence of poverty and ethnicity or race in constraining achievement. While 37 percent of low SES Hispanic eighth graders failed to achieve basic reading skills, only 19 percent of their high SES peers similarly failed. Among Asians, 38 percent of the low SES eighth graders failed to achieve basic reading skills, compared to 12 percent of the high SES students. In fact, these class differences appear more powerful than language proficiency in determining reading scores. Moreover, Asian language minority students with high English proficiency

had a lower failure rate than Hispanic students with high English proficiency, suggesting that ethnic and cultural differences independently influence social class and language proficiency in creating students' achievement (National Center for Education Statistics, 1992).

Coleman and his associates (1966) found that the peers with whom a student attended school were more important to achievement than any other school site characteristic. Poor minority students surrounded by other students from the same background had significantly less chance of success than those who had white and middle-class peers. In the late 1960s, as the country began to take seriously its campaign to desegregate school districts, this finding was used to point to the importance of racial balance. In the 1980s and 1990s, while findings remain much the same, the focus has shifted from race to poverty. Most importantly, new data show that students in schools with high rates of poverty have lower achievement than those in schools with lower poverty concentrations, and the association between school poverty and student achievement is especially strong in the nation's highest poverty schools (Orland, 1990). In fact, as Orland argues, "a nonpoor student in a poor school is actually more likely to be a low achiever (36.0 percent) than is a poor student in a low poverty school (27.6 percent)" (p. 53).

Recent research also suggests that poverty and race create more intense disadvantage in urban than in suburban or rural settings. For example, even when poor students in inner-city, suburban, and rural areas are compared, the urban students are likely to be much more disadvantaged than their suburban or rural peers. First, eight out of ten inner-city eighth graders in 1988 were minorities. By contrast, in advantaged rural and suburban schools, eight out of ten eighth graders were white. Only in disadvantaged suburban areas were there high concentrations of minority students, the majority being Hispanics. In fact, disadvantaged schools (including urban, suburban, and rural) enrolled 49



percent of all Hispanic students, 40 percent of native American students, 36 percent of African American students, and just 7 percent of all white students (Peng, Wang, & Walberg, 1992).

Inner-city schools also have relatively low numbers of students who live with both natural parents—44 percent, compared to 60 percent in other communities. About a third live with their mother only, twice as many as in other communities. Parents in inner-cities also have lower educational levels than those in advantaged communities, although their educational levels are higher than in disadvantaged suburban communities. Since unemployment is the highest in inner-cities, and inner-city family income is the lowest of all groups, the return on education for disadvantaged urban dwellers is lower than in the suburbs (Peng, Wang, & Walberg, 1992).

Disadvantaged inner-city schools also have high proportions of students who need special services. Homelessness, so prevalent in large cities, is linked to lowered school attendance and serious developmental delays (Hodgkinson, 1989). About a quarter of the students in inner-city schools also come from families whose native language is not English (Peng et al., 1992).

In fact, although the number of Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Island students has grown enormously in the last decade, the number of these students who are language minority has grown even faster. This vast increase in numbers of language minority students in the 1980s has put a great strain on public school budgets in states like California and Texas, and particularly in some urban school districts. As the chart below shows, students needing "Limited English Proficient" (LEP) services was as high as 42.6 percent in one urban district, and fell between 15 percent and a third in several others (Donato & Garcia, 1992, p. 97).



Percentage LEP Students During 1988-1989

DISTRICT	Percentage
Los Angeles Unified School District	31.0
San Francisco Unified School District	28.7
San Diego Unified School District	16.3
Denver Public Schools	16.9
Houston Independent School District	15.5
Albuquerque Unified School District	42.6
Chicago Public Schools	8.9

Despite the power of poverty and race to curtail achievement, the narrowing educational lag of black and Hispanic students with white students during the 1980s, at a time when the poverty rates of the latter increased, suggests that the relationship between poverty and achievement is not simple, and that there is much that even under-resourced schools can do. National Assessment of Educational Progress data show that between 1980 and 1988, there was substantial progress in narrowing the gap between minority and white students—and particularly between whites and blacks in reading, mathematics, and science. Further, the fact that the gap in the number of high school diplomas awarded was eliminated between black and white students, while the percentage of graduates who entered college widened, makes clear how economics influences college going, but not public school achievement (Educational Testing Service Policy Information Center, 1990).

The confluence of background poverty and poorly resourced schools makes the power of schooling particularly hard to isolate. The trouble is that African American and Hispanic students, many of whom



live in the inner-cities, are more likely than white students to attend high poverty or under-resourced schools (Orland, 1990). While some of the difference in achievement may be the result of different families enrolling in high and low poverty schools, the association between poverty and school resources remains even when family characteristics are controlled. That is, school-based achievement differences reflect not only factors such as the poverty and race of students, but "fundamental inequities between districts serving predominantly poor and minority students and districts serving more affluent and more largely majority students" (Orland, 1990, p. 75). Thus, where students live affects the probability of being undereducated (Waggoner, 1991). At the same time, students who live in long-term poverty are also likely to attend high poverty schools. That is, they may be doubly afflicted, by "both types of intense poverty experiences" (Orland, 1990).

THE EFFECTS OF SCHOOL POLICIES ON ACHIEVEMENT AND EQUALITY

In the past decade there have been important shifts in several key education policy areas. While there has been a national retreat from desegregation, magnet schools, which opened in the 1970s as a voluntary desegregation strategy, became a prototype of "choice" plans around the country in the 1980s. And, in the same years that choice advocates have begun calling for deregulation and even privatization, school finance battles in cities around the country have made news as they have attempted to equalize resources between rich and poor districts through regulation.



¹ Unfortunately, similar data are lacking for Asian students. Although the image of Asians is that they are a "model minority," able to succeed under any and all circumstances, the fact is that many attend under-resourced, economically segregated schools, and that a similar confluence between family poverty and school effects is likely among Asians.

In the following sections, we review in more detail recent trends and issues in desegregation, magnet schools, choice plans, and school finance. We focus on how these various policies have affected the educational opportunities of urban students, and particularly those students who are already battling the adverse effects of poverty or race.

Desegregation

Since the mid 1980s, several Federal level decisions and policies have effectively restructured legal recourses for school desegregation. Most conspicuous, the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice began efforts to end busing in Norfolk, Savannah, Oklahoma City, Seattle, and elsewhere (National Research Council, 1989). In addition, in January 1991, in a pivotal desegregation case, *Oklahoma City v. Doyle*, the Supreme Court ruled that formerly segregated school districts may be released from court-ordered busing once they have taken all "practicable" steps to eliminate the legacy of segregation. According to the Court, local segregated housing patterns are not necessarily the responsibility of school districts, as long as these patterns are the result of private choices and are not themselves "vestiges" of the era of official school segregation (Greenhouse, 1991).

Research reflected the shift in national policies. After receiving a great deal of attention in the 1960s and 1970s, school desegregation research slowed down noticeably in the 1980s, as researchers turned to the study of magnet schools and effective schooling (Grant, 1988; Noblit & Dempsey, 1992). Not surprisingly, the picture provided by the rare researcher studying desegregation has not been very optimistic. For example, two of the few recent desegregation studies report increased isolation of blacks in southern districts (Orfield, Monfort, & Aaron, 1989), and national social trends that "seem to augur sharp increases in resegregation" (Taeuber, Smock, & Taeuber, 1990, p. 28). Moreover,



segregation appears to be worse for Hispanic than African American students. In 1986, more than 70 percent of Hispanic students, compared to 64 percent of blacks, were enrolled in schools that were more than 50 percent minority; almost a third of Hispanic students were in heavily segregated schools, that is more than 90 percent minority (Haycock & Duany, 1991). At the same time, schools that serve disadvantaged minority students have been described as underfunded (Council of Great City Schools, 1992), and African American and other minority students are found to encounter "discrimination, unfairness and abuse" in their schools (Ollie, 1989).

Research also suggests that resegregation has been affected by several aspects of a district's desegregation policy. For example, the probability of resegregation appears to be greater if a district underwent desegregation before 1976, if the change was rapid, and if the district did not desegregate as completely as possible (Taeuber et al., 1990). While "voluntary assignments" and other "choice" plans have been touted as a way of preventing white flight (Rossell, 1990), a recent analysis of 20 school districts suggests that the level of segregation in a district is most likely to be reduced, and a racial balance to be maintained, when command and control models are used (Fife, 1992).

A recent study of a court-ordered voluntary transfer plan in St. Louis (Wells, 1991) also suggests the limits of "choice" in creating desegregated schooling for black students. This research demonstrates that, given the choice to attend either segregated urban or predominantly white suburban schools, black urban parents do not necessarily chose a predominantly white school for their children, nor do they make "rational" choices based on what might be the best education, even when there is free transportation to suburban schools. Instead, while some parents and students may actively "choose" an all-black school, a sense of powerlessness and alienation may cause others to "choose not to choose" or even to

enroll their children in schools they believe to be inferior. Thus, only a small percentage of black families who could be involved in voluntary desegregation choose to be.

Does racial balance affect achievement, as the 1954 suit, Brown v. Topeka Board of Education, claimed? Although new research specifically addressing this question does not exist, recent studies with other objectives provide important information. For example, an analysis of the performance of high school students in Dade County schools shows that students in predominantly white schools have the highest average test scores, and while those in predominantly black schools have the lowest (Portes & Gran, 1991). Moreover, both Hispanics and Asians perform more poorly in predominantly black schools than they do in schools that are predominantly white. That is, for all ethnic groups, "there is an invariable monotonic relationship—the greater the black student concentration, the lower the average test scores" (p. 4). On the other hand, dropout rates for all ethnic groups increase as the black and Hispanic student concentration decreases, with black and Hispanic dropout rates highest in schools with the lowest concentration of their respective groups. This suggests both that predominantly white schools may have higher standards, and that these standards may exist at the expense of retaining minority students. Perhaps most interesting-and offering support to the above discussion of school effects-the differences in test scores in the various Dade County schools are not caused only by differences in student ethnicity. Rather, even after controlling for individual ethnicity and other factors, differences persist at the school level. That is, as Portes and Gran (1991) argue, there is something about schools serving predominantly black (or predominantly white) students that contributes to student failure or success.

Recently, the great influx of immigrant children has brought into new focus the potential conflict between school desegregation and bilingual



education, as growing numbers of children whose native language is not English have had to be placed either in language-segregated environments or integrated into mainstream classes without the benefits of special language instruction. While some districts have sacrificed desegregation goals to give Hispanic and other children whose native language is not English a proper curriculum in their native language, others have made the sacrifice in favor of desegregation. In fact, Hispanic students are in increasingly segregated schools, but not because of bilingual education. As we have pointed out, in 1986, more than 70 percent of all Hispanic students were in schools that were 50 percent minority, and almost a third of all Hispanic students were in schools that were 90 percent minority (Haycock & Duany, 1991). Yet, in the mid-1980s some 68 percent of eighth grade and 82 percent of eleventh grade language minority students received neither bilingual nor English-as-a-Second-Language instruction (Valdivieso, 1986).

Magnet Schools

Because magnet schools have always had a double objective, to stimulate both school improvement and voluntary racial integration, research on magnets has focused on the fulfillment of these objectives. On the question of whether magnet schools are particularly good schools, two large studies (Blank, 1990; Dentler, 1990), both based on 1983 data, draw rather different conclusions. While Blank reports that 80 percent of the magnet schools he studied had student reading and math achievement scores above their district averages, Dentler concludes that magnets vary as much as non-magnets in their ability to deliver educational quality. A third study (Hill, Foster, & Gendler, 1990), which included magnet schools as well as Catholic and zoned public schools, argues that magnets and Catholic schools far exceed the zoned schools in graduation rates and SAT scores, as well as in the percentage of students completing college preparatory courses and taking the SAT test. Finally, a first-year analysis

of the effectiveness of New York City's career magnet schools (Crain, Heebner, & Si, 1992) suggests that magnet school students are less likely than their comprehensive school peers to drop out in the transition between middle school and high school, show a gain in reading scores, and earn more credits toward graduation.

Research also suggests that to achieve real integration, a city must go beyond monitoring enrollments at the school level. In Montclair, New Jersey, where racial balance was achieved through a magnet school plan that assured racial and gender balance at the classroom level, its middle and high school honors and advanced classes nevertheless remained segregated (Educational Testing Service, 1990). In New York City, where career magnet high schools experience a rare degree of "intellectual desegregation," this has been achieved only by a system in which students' school choices are then subjected to a lottery randomly selecting students according to reading scores (Crain, 1992).

It has been argued that magnets often do "cream" off good students at the expense of non-magnets—and thus contribute to isolation by achievement and economics, if not by race, in the remainder of the districts' schools. The problem of creaming has generally been tackled by studying admissions criteria. For example, Dentler (1990) found nearly two-thirds of the magnets in his study to be selective by some admissions criteria, although half of the magnets with the highest achievement were not selective; and Blank (1990) found that only 15 percent of his sample used such "highly selective" criteria as test scores. However, as it has often been pointed out, even when a magnet school has no admissions criteria, most of the students are selected: simply having to choose a magnet selects out those students who "choose not to choose," and only rarely does a lottery system (New York City is an exception) include students with failing grades or records of bad behavior.



Another related concern is whether magnets draw scarce resources away from other schools. While Mitchell, Russell, and Benson (1989) found the difference in operating and recurring costs between magnets and non-magnets to be "relatively small," McDonnell (1989) found that magnets cost from 10 to 12 percent more than zoned schools. However, it has been pointed out that the cost differentials decline as start-up costs are absorbed, and that some magnets provide quality education even when they face severe resource problems (Metz, 1986).

School Choice

A wide range of choice plans were created in the late 1980s and early 1990s around the country, transforming the debate from whether there should be choice in education to how much choice should be offered and under what conditions. How are students to be matched with schools? How much government regulation should be promulgated? Do special arrangements have to be made for choice to work for low-income students? Should choice exist only for public schools, or should it be extended to private schooling?

While there are those who argue that "choice policies do the most for—and are most urgently sought by—the least fortunate members of society" (Finn, 1990, p. 5-6), and that "choice is also a viable option for reducing segregation" (Rinehart & Lee, 1991, p. 20), others argue that when resources are scarce, middle-class parents are the most successful in obtaining them (Whealey, 1991), and that an unstated goal of some choice supporters may be to further dismantle desegregation (Folbre, 1992). Cibulka (1990) points out that, whether the arrangement is a magnet school or some other form of choice, any limitation in the supply of good schools also aggravates "already existing quality gradations among schools," and runs directly counter to equity goals (p. 51).



A report of The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching (1992), summarizes the current choice arguments. It notes that "critical policy decisions are being made based more on faith than on fact" (p. 9). Because there has been so little information on the emerging choice schools, most arguments both pro and con have been drawn from "suggestive research" on magnet schools and alternative schools, as well as on private schools, all of which offer diversity, though with varying degrees of choice or competition. For example, Chubb and Moe's (1990) influential work on the benefits of school choice is not based on actual choice programs, but on information from a national longitudinal survey which suggests that "a well-organized school can make a meaningful difference for student achievement, regardless of the ability and background of its students" (p. 129). Moreover, as Lee and Bryk (1992) have recently pointed out, the formidable data analyses conducted by Chubb and Moe contain both technical and conceptual problems, including a confusion between measures of student aptitude and achievement, a rescaling of estimated test scores that gives special advantage to students in small private and large suburban schools, and a melding of these two types of high-performing schools, although their organizational structures are obviously quite different.

So far, in addition to such "suggestive" research, most information on choice plans has been drawn from several sources: a voucher demonstration project in Alum Rock, California, where from 1972 to 1977 randomly selected parents were given tuition vouchers to spend at the district's elementary and middle minischools (Bridge & Blackman, 1978); the first year report on Milwaukee's parental choice program (Whitte, 1991); and the aforementioned Carnegie Report that drew its data from a variety of choice programs both in the United States and in Scotland (Carnegie Foundation, 1992; Willms & Echols, 1992).



The Alum Rock experiment produced no differences in academic performance between participants and the rest of the student population. In addition, analysis of issues surrounding choosing suggests that socially advantaged parents and better educated parents knew more about the voucher program than did less advantaged and more poorly educated parents. Similarly, in the Scottish experiment, parents who exercised their right to choose were "more highly educated and had more prestigious occupations." At the same time, parents chose schools that only "marginally benefitted" their children's examination attainment (Willms & Echols, 1992). On the other hand, Driscoll (1992), who compared 66 "choice" public schools with 66 randomly selected public schools, found no edge in the socioeconomic status or education of the parents in choice schools, but she also found no difference in achievement in the two types of schools, although students and parents in "choice" schools believed that the schools were doing a better job.

The Milwaukee program adds an interesting variation, because the plan focused specifically on low-income students. While no data compared the achievement of choice students with their peers who remained in the Milwaukee Public Schools, the researchers found variations in the quality of the private schools these students attended. (For example, one of the private schools had financial difficulties and closed mid-year, leaving its students abandoned.) Moreover, none of the schools were well equipped to meet the exceptional needs of learning disabled and emotionally disturbed students. Finally, of the 249 low-income students who entered the choice programs, 86 didn't enroll in the program the second year, preferring to return to public school. As with Alum Rock and the Scottish experiment, research on the Milwaukee program also investigated issues related to choosing. In Milwaukee, while there was a generally low level of information about the program among low-income families, those parents who did choose to enter the program had slightly higher education levels



and were more active in the schools than those who remained in the Milwaukee Public Schools.

Transportation is a key problem in a number of choice plans, since for most families in the United States the nearest school is two miles away, the next closest four-and-a-half miles, and the one beyond that between ten and 80 miles away (Carnegie Foundation, 1992). In Arkansas, students are required to pay their own transportation costs for inter-district transfers. In both Minnesota and Ohio, which also have inter-district plans, students are required to provide their own transportation to the borders of the new school system. In Minnesota, although low-income students can receive reimbursement for transportation costs, the money must still first be taken out of pocket. While the Carnegie report argues that a precondition for equity in any choice plan is full paid transportation costs, it also makes clear that subsidizing transportation in choice plans, even in small districts, adds millions to the cost of education.

Finally, there are a number of issues related to choice itself. First, there is evidence that students and their families choose schools based less on academic criteria than on other factors, such as convenience (proximity to home, daycare, or parents' workplace) and a sense that other students are the kind of children they want to be with (Carnegie Foundation, 1992; Toch, 1992). Second, it has been suggested that the voluntary nature of many open enrollment programs can diminish their effectiveness, particularly for low-income students. When students must "choose to choose," they can easily continue not to choose. By contrast, district-wide open enrollment plans, such as exist in New York City's Community School District 4 and in Cambridge, Massachusetts, force every student to choose a school, even if they simply choose their neighborhood school (Crain, 1992).



Equality and School Finance

Although during the past decade many argued that money was not the critical issue in school improvement, and that schools would do better if simply freed of "regulatory baggage" (Timar, 1992), the vast differences between district expenditures across the nation continued to make school finance an important educational issue. In fact, the problem of finance has been particularly acute in urban schools, and it has been deeply linked with school control issues. At a time when central-city schools have become increasingly isolated from the mainstream of civic, political, and economic life, the special Federal and state programs that have provided critical services for disadvantaged and handicapped children have also weakened the managerial and administrative control of big city school systems (Hill, Wise, & Shapiro, 1989). It may be true that money does not necessarily buy better education, that some large school systems may be both top heavy and too specialized and fragment responsibility (Hill et al., 1989), and that "determining fiscal equity is a very complex issue especially Eince the needs of students differ" (Taylor & Piche, 1990, p. 1). However, there has been a strong belief, particularly among under-resourced districts, both that money is a fundamental requisite for buying good schooling, and that a number of factors in urban districts increase educational costs beyond district resources. A recent study of 47 big city school districts (Council of Great City Schools, 1992) argues that, while large urban schools deal with more disadvantaged students, their per-pupil expenditures are lower than the national average, and far lower than suburban per-pupil expenditures. In 1991, while big city schools averaged \$5,200 per pupil, the national average was \$5,512, and suburban districts averaged \$6,073.

In fact, disparities in funding between rich and poor states, and between rich and poor districts in the same state, grew in the 1980s. The disparities had two sources. First, the reliance on property taxes has



created vast inequities. Second, although the states' share of education budgets has increased greatly, poor states tend to have the most disadvantaged students and thus have higher costs. Moreover, within-state inequities arise because state formulas do not equalize—and in some instances contribute to—funding inequities. Not surprisingly, within states, poor districts overall also have the largest proportions of poor and minority students. For example, Texas, whose student population is 36.2 minority, has an expenditure ratio of 2.8 to 1 for areas with small minority populations compared to areas with large minority populations (Denbo, Sneed, & Thomas, 1990).

What do differences in funding buy? First, money can reduce class size, although there are arguments about whether class size matters to achievement (Hanushek, 1989; Mueller, Chase, & Walden, 1988). In fact, a wide gap exists in class size between rich and poor school districts. In a 1986-87 study, there were 18.3 elementary students for every teacher in Baltimore, compared with 14.4 students per teacher in nearby suburban Montgomery County (Taylor & Piche, 1990).

Yet differences between rich and poor districts go far beyond pupil-teacher ratios. Curricular offerings also vary with the economic resources of the school district. Low-income students in property poor districts have less demanding mathematics and science curricula, fewer laboratories, and older laboratory equipment. Poor districts are also less likely to offer advanced placement courses, to have enough computers, or to have sufficient faculty to be able to make them available to all students (Taylor & Piche, 1990).

Further, poor school districts are the districts most burdened by students with the need for extra services. This is part of the origin of the term "municipal overburden," which applies not only to the needs of urban schools, but also to the other competing pressures on city budgets. Indeed,



as Hodgkinson (1990) has argued, the country's most serious educational problems are in the

inner-city schools, where the highest percentage of "at-risk" students can be found; where classes are large (even though these children need the *most* individual attention); where health care, housing, transportation, personal security, and community stability are inadequate; where it is *very* hard to recruit and retain high-quality teachers and administrators; and where racial segregation still exists to an appalling degree, despite our best efforts (p. 13).

A recent analysis of districts that comprise the Council of Great City Schools (1992) shows that 88.9 percent have programs for infants of teen mothers, 84.4 percent have parenting programs for teens and 77.8 percent have parenting programs for adults, and 75.6 percent have latchkey programs. It is because of costs such as these, associated with educating large numbers of poor students with "special needs," that the average per pupil expenditure adjusted for special needs in the Council of Great City Schools was \$3,861, compared with the national average perpupil expenditure of \$4,132. That is, once need is taken into account, urban students are funded at about 7 percent below the national average.

Finally, a heavy economic burden in urban schools is caused by old buildings and high repairs. In 1985, needed school building repairs were estimated at \$680 million in New York City, \$315 million in Los Angeles, \$308 million Detroit, and \$280 million in Chicago (Cetron, 1985). It would not be surprising if the money needed for these repairs has all increased since then.

Recent court cases in such states as Kentucky, New Jersey, Texas, California, and Montana have attempted to create tax equity between rich and poor districts. Remedies have included wealth equalization, which would assure that the same tax effort resulted in the same or similar dollar



yield; more money for special needs children, which would ensure that the poorest districts are mancially able to provide educational offerings over and above those of the wealthy suburban districts without special needs children; a focus on specific educational needs, which may provide a basis for funding such initiatives as prekindergarten classes for disadvantaged three- and four-year-olds; and caps on wealthy district spending, which would allow poorer districts to catch up (Taylor & Piche, 1990).

The problem is that the confluence of differentials in funding and different student populations has confounded the question of whether tax poor districts have adequate resources. One solution is to use outcome measures as a way of assessing equity. Taylor and Piche (1990) suggest that the educational research of the 1980s has yielded a number of strategies necessary to effective education—for example, preschool child development programs, small class size, counseling and social services—and that their availability in a school district might be yet another way of determining fiscal equality.

Starting with the Milliken II ruling in 1977, resource and school effectiveness issues have joined racial balance in desegregation politics. For example, in St. Louis, a desegregation settlement linked costly improvements in segregated inner-city schools to create attractive magnets with a voluntary transfer plan combining city and suburban schools. In Kansas City, where the district claimed economic injury caused by a diminishing tax potential and the increased costs of educating disadvantaged students, the courts approved a remedial plan requiring funds for reduced class size, new program specialists, a variety of new educational programs, and an upgrading of the school district's facilities. Thus, in both these cases, while student assignment issues are relegated to a minor role, the issue of racial inequity is addressed through resource reallocation (Colton & Uchitelle, 1992).



Not surprisingly, the threat of legislative reforms has generated widespread resistance from suburban (largely white) taxpayers (Taylor & Piche, 1990). In California, challenges to inequalities in funding led to property tax revolts, and so to the gutting of school budgets statewide, which has proven dangerous even to white students. Thus it has been suggested that the popularity of the school choice (pro-privatization) movement arises out of this dilemma, appealing to employers and affluent whites who don't want their property taxes raised (Folbre, 1992).

POLICIES AND PRACTICES FOR EDUCATING SPECIAL NEEDS STUDENTS

Since the 1960s special services have been delivered to students who, because of the adverse effects of poverty or minority status, experience difficulty achieving in the regular classroom. These practices use white middle-class students as a model for acceptable normal functioning, and reflect the belief that the problems experienced by minority low-income students are largely the result of a *lack* of the right educational experiences in their home and neighborhood. They operate on the assumption that the educational system can remain untouched if extra services are simply offered to some disadvantaged students. Rather than believing that students from different backgrounds come to school with a variety of skills which might be tapped in educating them, program developers also tend to see low-income and minority students as "disadvantaged" and thus offer programs that are compensatory in their structure and goals.

In this section, we focus on several key compensatory programs: Head Start, Chapter 1, bilingual education, and dropout prevention.



Head Start

Head Start was established under Title V of former President Lyndon Johnson's Economic Opportunity Act of 1964, and was reauthorized in 1986 and 1991 (Gall, 1991). Directed to preschool students from poor families, it is unique among compensatory programs in its linking of education with health services and high levels of parental participation (Mallory & Goldsmith, 1991). Both because of such linkages and because it directly serves young children, Head Start has been almost universally praised as a success and has been held up as a model to be emulated by other special needs programs.

In 1989, there were 1,283 widely varying local Head Start programs, serving more than 450,000 students (Administration for Children, Youth, and Families, 1990). By 1990, the number of students had grown to almost 541,000. Of these, the majority came from poor, single-parent families (Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources, 1991). Thirty-three percent were white, 38 percent African American, and 22 percent Hispanic (National Head Start Association, 1990).

Despite these numbers, fewer than one third of all eligible children are enrolled in Head Start programs around the country (Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources, 1991; Zill & Wolpow, 1990) In addition, while Federal allocations for Head Start increased during the 1980s, they did not keep pace with inflation, resulting in lower real-dollar funding for the program today than in 1977 (Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources, 1991). This has led to serious problems in developing and maintaining facilities for local programs, as well as inordinately low salaries for teachers (Collins, 1990; Lombardi, 1990). Moreover, while Head Start was initially conceived of as a multi-year program benefitting children between the ages of two and five via full-day programs, it is now attended predominantly by four-year-olds, and only 6



percent of all programs provide full-day services (Lombardi, 1990; National Head Start Association, 1990).

Although most Head Start programs have demonstrated significant short-term cognitive benefits for students, positive effects tend to fade over time (Reynolds, 1990). In fact, Head Start and non-Head Start students are often comparable in cognitive and socioemotional performance by the end of the first year of regular school (Natriello, McDill, & Pallas, 1990). Head Start children are less likely than other disadvantaged children to be either placed in special education classes or retained in a grade (Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources, 1991). Nevertheless, Reynolds (1990) found a significant positive correlation between the fading of cognitive gains and such factors as assignment to special education classes, school mobility, and retention, all of which have traditionally plagued the special needs students targeted by Head Start.

In addition, the use of standardized tests for high-stakes situations like admissions to kindergarten or placement in an ability level, causes additional problems, since students may be "retained" or tracked before they even have a chance to begin (Madaus, 1992; Raver & Zigler, 1991). Furthermore, Head Start's emphasis on IQ tests as measures of cognitive gains has some clear racial implications; as Raver and Zigler argue, the use of such tests may force non-Anglo children to face a "dual set of social demands" from both their own cultural group, and that of the white, dominant culture (1991, p. 6). The increased importance of testing in Head Start programs has also created the danger of "teaching to the test," which means emphasizing narrowly defined cognitive skills, when what preschoolers may need is much more emphasis on social skills (Raver & Zigler, 1991).

The areas in which Head Start has unquestionably been successful are precisely those in which cognitive gains and IQ tests have not been



emphasized: health, social skills, and parent involvement in education. The importance of these aspects of Head Start cannot be overemphasized, since they appear to be not only necessary to teachers seeing students as prepared for elementary school, but are also prerequisites for the cognitive performance that students are later expected to demonstrate.

Chapter 1

Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 was a cornerstone of Lyndon Johnson's War on Poverty. Since 1981, its successor, Chapter 1, has been providing school districts with assistance to deliver supplementary services to more than five million poor, low-achieving students, or about one in eight public school students nationwide. While nearly every district in the country receives some Chapter 1 support, urban schools are the largest beneficiaries of the program. As of October, 1990, a full 35 percent of public school students enrolled in Chapter 1 programs—the largest single group—attended urban schools (Millsap, Turnbull, Moss, Brigham, Gamse, & Marks, 1992). In 1988-89, 57 percent of Chapter 1 participants were minority students; moreover, between 1979 and 1989, the percentage of minority students in the program had increased significantly (Sinclair & Gutmann, 1991).

Chapter 1 has received widespread political support, despite the fact that research supporting its strategies is less than convincing. In 1986, a Congress-mandated National Assessment of Chapter 1 concluded that, while the program had small but positive short-term effects, it had not succeeded in its stated goal of moving poor, low-achieving students substantially toward the achievement levels of their more advantaged peers (Kennedy, Birman, & Demaline, 1987). Moreover, the program had emphasized regulatory compliance and fiscal integrity at the expense of educational quality (Odden, 1987).



As a result of these studies, the 1988 Hawkins-Stafford Act mandated a number of changes in Chapter 1. The intent was to improve the program's effectiveness by shifting its emphasis from funding to education. The Act required that districts coordinate Chapter 1 with regular instructional programs by reducing the number of "pull-out" programs, and that they increase parent participation in the programs, which had always been mandated but had not been enforced. Most importantly, the Act made districts accountable for enhanced achievement among the students most in need, requiring them to identify and improve schools in which Chapter 1 had not been successful.

While the Hawkins-Stafford Act has led to some significant progress in the implementation of Chapter 1 within schools, the Act has not altered "the political calculus that has stabilized over the years at the local level" (Herrington & Orland, 1992, p. 177). Most importantly, pullouts remain the dominant model for implementation of Chapter 1. Not only do 89 percent of districts still utilize limited pull-out programs, but the percentage of districts employing extended pull-out programs (in which Chapter 1 students spend more than 25 percent of instructional time outside of the regular classroom) actually increased between 1985-86 and 1990-91 (Millsap et al., 1992). This continued—and even increased—emphasis on pull-outs has meant that Chapter 1 programs are often poorly coordinated with regular programs (Anderson & Pellicer, 1990), and that Chapter 1 students often receive less actual instructional time than other students (Passow, 1988).

In addition, the provisions of the Act enforcing school accountability have had a number of unexpected effects. Because student improvement is largely measured by improved scores on national tests, states and districts have tended to set very low minimum standards for the evaluation of that improvement (Heid, 1991). Although the Act "encourages" the use of additional measures of success (LeTendre, 1991),



it has created an over-reliance on traditional tests (Davis, 1991). The same reliance on standardized testing may also reward schools for retaining students and reinforce a tendency to teach Chapter 1 students nothing more than a narrow set of skills which are easily tested (Slavin & Madden, 1991).

Bilingual Education

Although bilingual education in the United States originated in some communities as early as the nineteenth century (Wong-Fillmore & Meyer, 1992), its recent history began in 1968 with Title VII of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, which set aside funds for the creation of programs for language minority students. The 1974 Supreme Court decision in Lau v. Nichols reinforced provisions of Title VII, requiring schools to provide language minority students with equal access to education by taking language needs into account in the development of educational programming.

Some districts have had considerable success in their efforts to integrate language minority students into mainstream programs (Brisk, 1991; Trute, 1991). However, most tend to rely on submersion (or "sink-or-swim") methods, which drop students in full-time English language classrooms without providing any linguistic assistance, and are thus not really bilingual programs at all. Other common methods of educating language minority students are compensatory in nature, utilizing either part-time pull-outs or "transitional" full pull-out programs. Neither submersion nor the various pull-out models have shown significant or consistent success (Ramirez, Yuen, Ramey, & Pasta, 1991).

The use of compensatory models for the development of bilingual programs has had a serious impact both on their effectiveness and on the ways in which language minority students have been perceived by



educators. Indeed, as Soto (1991) suggests, the fact that these students are often labeled as "Limited English Proficient" may itself mark them as somehow educationally deficient. In any case, there has been a dramatic overplacement of these students in special education and remedial tracks. Ortiz and Polyzoi (cited in Harry, 1992), found that in three large urban districts in Texas, 83 percent of language minority students were labelled learning-disabled.

The susceptibility of language minority students to misplacement stems largely from two factors. First, even if they are fluent in English, they tend to score lower on standardized tests than native English speakers. Second, largely because of language barriers, the parents of these students rarely participate in their children's schools, which means that they are less protected from misplacement than are other children (Costas, 1991).

One of the biggest problems facing students whose primary language is one other than English has been the considerable politicization of the debate surrounding bilingual education. Since the early 1980s, supporters of bilingualism have been pitted against a number of "English Only" political action groups (Ovando, 1988). In addition to having a stifling effect on research into effective methods of linguistic integration (Lucas, Henze, & Donato, 1990; Donato & Garcia, 1992), such a political climate has often meant that the energy of educators, which could have been used to further the education of language minority students, has been expended in defensive rhetoric.

The complexity of the issues surrounding bilingual education has been further compounded by a rapid growth in the numbers of language minority students in urban areas. In Los Angeles, the percentage of students whose native language is not English increased from 15 percent in 1980 to 31 percent in 1989 (Office of Bilingual Education and Minority



Languages Affairs, 1990). Nationwide, language minority students may account for as many as 20 percent of the student population by the turn of the century (Porter, 1990). The number of different languages spoken by these students has also increased; in some urban areas, as many as 100 different languages can be heard in the schools (Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Languages Affairs, 1990). In such a cultural context, bilingual education must be supplemented with—if not replaced by—multilingual programs.

The requirement that districts implement bilingual programs to serve language minority students can conflict with the mandate to desegregate all students. However, when such a high proportion of Hispanic students are in heavily segregated schools (70 percent are in segregated schools and 30 percent in heavily desegregated-90 percent or more minority-schools), real desegregation for many Hispanic students is only a fantasy. Still, the desegregation mandate has been used by some districts as an opportunity to either ignore the needs of language minority students entirely or to resegregate schools along language lines (Donato & Garcia, 1992). Despite these dire conditions, a recent study by Lindholm (1991) suggests that the most promising programs seek to develop and maintain high level; of bilingual proficiency by fully integrating students with diverse linguistic backgrounds. These programs attempt to strengthen dual language skills for both language minority and language majority students, a process that furthers the goals of both integration and bilingual education.

Dropout Prevention

Like Head Start, dropout prevention programs are intended not only to compensate for perceived educational deficiencies, but also to be preventative. By identifying a group of students who are "at risk" of future school failure, they attempt to develop programming before the problems



of these students become so serious that they leave school altogether. While the most effective have been programs for elementary school students (Duckenfield, Hamby, & Smink, 1990), dropout prevention programs are generally aimed at high school students, where they are the least effective (Lindner, 1990). In some areas, such as New York City, records are not even kept of students who drop out before beginning high school (Lindner, 1990).

Although the dropout rate has hovered between 25 percent and 29 percent nationwide since the mid-sixties (LeCompte & Dworkin, 1991), the problem has been especially acute in urban areas, where nearly 40 percent of all dropouts live (Schwartz, 1991). Furthermore, despite a significant increase in white blue-collar dropouts, the dropout rate for poor minority students is significantly higher than for more advantaged white students (LeCompte & Dworkin, 1991; Ekstrom, Goertz, Pollack, & Rock, 1987). Dropout rates have been especially high among Hispanic students. Indeed, a 1990 report on New Jersey schools by the Public Affairs Research Institute estimated that up to 80 percent of all Puerto Rican students in the Newark schools drop out, most before they even enter high school (Burch, 1992).

As a result of the demographics of dropouts, the term "at-risk students" has become little more than a label attached to a school's minority population (Natriello, McDill, & Pallas, 1990). This has led to the unfortunate and unintended consequence that the "at-risk" label itself, often attached to students as early as the second or third grade (LeCompte & Dworkin, 1991), may function as a self-fulfilling prophecy of failure for labelled students (Schwartz, 1991).

Despite their stated aim to forestall future problems, dropout prevention programs often utilize techniques and procedures similar to those of other compensatory programs. Dropout programs in most districts



involve extensive remediation and lowered academic expectations as well as extended, and often permanent, pull-outs (LeCompte & Dworkin, 1991; Natriello et al., 1990). In fact, in a study of six urban school districts, four even utilized detention as a method to lower the dropout rate, while two districts defined the suspension of students as a dropout prevention tool (Lindner, 1990).

Nevertheless, some interesting practices have been developed to prevent dropping out. They include efforts to involve parents, local businesses, and community groups; and to institute extensive and individualized counseling and mentoring programs (Williams, 1991; National Foundation for the Improvement of Education, 1990). All six districts studied by Lindner (1990) had strong counseling programs; almost all also emphasized individualized tutoring and parental involvement. One third of them added such practices as peer counseling, job training, and business alliances.

Still, the success of these projects has been mixed. For instance, despite promises of jobs and funding for college after graduation under the provisions of the Boston Compact dropout prevention program, that city's dropout rate increased from 33 to 40 percent between 1982 and 1989 (Toch, 1991). Lindner (1990) fo and that, even though all six of the districts in his study reported improved attendance, there was no change in the dropout rate. At the same time, in-school career academies have had promising results, cutting the dropout rate to almost nothing (Toch, 1991). Other successful strategies have been quality early childhood programs for all studer and an authorized reading and writing programs in the early grades, and comprehensive community and business collaboration, linked with career counseling and workforce readiness training (Duckenfield et al., 1990; Hahn, Danzberger, & Lefkowitz, 1987).



MOVING FROM SPECIAL NEEDS TO SYSTEMIC CHANGE

The preceding section described current programs that are largely compensatory in nature and intent. That is, they aim to make up for deprivations in students' backgrounds and environments. By contrast, this section discusses a number of school practices which, in the process of enormous change, are moving toward an education system that is more inclusive for all students.

We begin with standardized testing, which has been under great pressure to evolve into other assessment practices. We also discuss tracking, which has been widely criticized, and summarize new efforts to detrack and create heterogeneous groupings. This discussion leads to an analysis of several new models for school restructuring, which attempt to create, as one program puts it, "success for all" students. We then discuss multicultural education, which is the curricular side of inclusiveness; and finally we discuss differences in student learning styles, and how schools can accommodate them.

Standardized Testing and New Forms of Assessment

Educational testing has played an unprecedented role in the past decade. While standardized tests have driven schooling as never before, the content and process of testing have themselves become a center of controversy and have been forced to change. To understand the current debates and changes in testing, it is necessary to go back to the early 1980s.

The Nation at Risk and other commission reports of the early 1980s argued the decline in national educational quality on the basis of students' standardized test scores. Led by governors and state legislatures, often with strong business backing, these commissions argued for stiffer high school



graduation requirements, increased student testing, new school accountability, and higher teacher standards. By 1990, 47 states used testing to monitor student, school, and/or school district performance; to certify students for grade promotion or high school graduation; to identify students in need of remediation; and to allocate state compensatory education aid (Educational Testing Service Policy Information Center, 1990).

The national movement to raise standards had some positive effects, including apparent improvement in mathematics and science proficiency (but no apparent gain in reading or writing proficiency), an increase in student homework, and some lowering of the dropout rate. There was also a narrowing in the gap between white students and black at 1 Hispanic students in reading, and a narrowing of the gap between black and white students in mathematics (Educational Testing Service Policy Information Center, 1990). However, by the end of the decade, there was a general sense among educators that testing as a vehicle for change was limited, even problematic. In particular, the "high stakes" nature of testing, in which the success of schools, teachers, and students were increasingly tied to test scores, had led to distortions in the education system, as efforts were made to improve scores through special preparations and even teaching to the tests.

Despite the apparent gains made by minorities over the decade, the relationship between the test scores of inority students and their actual learning was of particular concern to educators and researchers. First, some argued that the tests are biased in content and format against the learning or thinking styles of minorities, particularly those whose native language is not English (Miller-Jones, 1989). Second, it was said that standardized tests are a much better indicator of student background than they are of school learning (Archibald & Newmann, 1988). If this is so, it means that the score increases might not even imply improvements in



schooling. Third, some questioned whether all students, regardless of race, ethnicity, and social class, are exposed equally to the curricular goals reflected in the tests (Alexander & Parsons, 1991; Oakes, 1985). Fourth, and finally, it was said that the growth in testing programs is a particular curse on low-income students.

As a new body of research has suggested, urban low SES school districts conduct more testing and link that testing to promotion and graduation more frequently than do non-urban high SES districts (Bauer, 1992). Moreover, in an effort to raise standards indicated by high test scores, without sufficient academic supports for better instruction, schools subject many students in large urban schools to a narrow, test-driven curriculum. In fact, the narrowing of curriculum is likely to be greatest in schools serving at-risk and disadvantaged students, where there is greatest pressure to improve scores (Herman & Golan, 1990).

The degradation of instruction and curriculum prompted by high stakes testing has also led to a movement to change the nature of the tests. Thus, by the end of the eighties, many educators were trying to create tests that were both "worth taking" and could be used on a mass scale. Inspired by the English national testing system, which bases its final year assessments on student portfolios, performance-based or authentic assessments became the emerging alternative. In fact, the standards movement led to an assessment reform movement (Brandt, 1992).

However, as school districts around the country have leapt to add portfolios and other performance or authentic assessments to their testing programs, these new tests have also begun they would be criticized. Most important, given a "high-stakes" environment, it is said that teaching to the test will likely continue, whatever the test format (Madaus & Kellaghan, 1991; Mehrens, 1992). Moreover, pressure to improve test scores, even if



the tests are "authentic," will lead to educational distortions, unless accompanied by supports for instructional improvement (Herman, 1992).

Although it was hoped that performance assessments would show smaller ethnic group differences than multiple-choice tests do (that is, they would be less biased), initial research does not suggest any improvements in the scores of minority students. Instead, these tests have been criticized as more susceptible to subjective interpretation and bias (Mehrens, 1992). One solution, it is thought, is to use multiple assessments with disadvantaged students, both to avoid the misplacement of students because of a single low score, and to give students detailed feedback, which has been shown to improve learning (Navarrete, Wilde, Nelson, Martinez, & Hargett, 1990; Natriello, Pallas, & Riehl, 1991).

Finally, as the idea of a national assessment program continues to be on the agenda, many educators question whether any assessment—even the most sophisticated—is the best way to drive school reform. Therefore, educators worry that the focus on testing, and particularly the drive to create a national test, will be a regrettable diversion from the hard problems of rethinking schooling.

From Tracking to Detracking

Recently, a wide range of national educational and child advocacy organizations have recommended the abolition of student placement by perceived ability, most commonly called tracking. The reason for this recommendation is that too often tracking creates class- and race-linked differences in access to learning. In fact, because of the inequalities in opportunity which result from tracking, it has been deemed a major contributor to the continuing gaps in achievement between disadvantaged and affluent students, and between minorities and whites (Oakes, 1985; 1992).



In fact, tracking remains widespread. For example, in grade seven about two thirds of all schools use homogeneous groupings in some or all subjects, and about a fifth use ability groupings in each subject (Braddock, 1990). Although recent concerns for inequities in tracking have caused many districts to eliminate the low tracks or to rename their tracks to imply a less hierarchical organization, low-income and minority students increasingly predominate in bottom tracks (Ekstrom, 1992).

One line of major resistance to detracking comes from those concerned about how heterogeneous grouping will influence the learning of high achievers or gifted and talented students. Recently two metaanalyses of a number of tracking studies have suggested rather opposite conclusions. While Slavin (1990) found no particular benefits to any group of achievers in tracked classes, Kulik (1991) suggests that this is because Slavin did not include accelerated and enriched classes in his sample. By contrast, Kulik found that the benefits are positive and often large for students in special classes for the gifted and talented, and that accelerated classes in which talented children cover, say, four grades in three years often boost achievement levels a good deal. However, Oakes (1992), who has long maintained that heterogeneous groupings will benefit even high achievers, has pointed out that the benefits that students in accelerated classes receive are not from the homogeneity of the group, but from their enhanced curriculum. Finally, research by Useem (1992) makes clear that districts where most students perform above the national average can also be the most selective. Thus, it is actually here that many capable students are cheated by being sent to general or slow classes.

There are several aspects of the tracking process that place minority students disproportionately into low groups. First, as was suggested in the last section, despite recent gains, low-income minority students tend to score lower on achievement tests. Second, most schools track students on the basis of tested achievement—and these tests are often

in areas unrelated to the subject in which the student is tracked (Ekstrom, 1992). Third, achievement tests are used more frequently in schools with high minority enrollments—in other words, exactly in those cases where other sources of performance information might make the process more equitable (Ekstrom, 1992). In fact, it is because of the predominance of minority students in low and remedial track classes that Shephard (1991) has argued, "assessment and diagnosis turn into sorting and segregation when special help implies special placement" (p. 281).

There has also been concern about the unequal influence of parent decisions on student placement. While white middle-class parents are often active in deciding the track for their children, minority parents are less likely to be consulted about placements. Moreover, the likelihood of parents having input into tracking decisions declines in schools with high minority populations. In general, the rule about parents' involvement in tracking decisions can be summed up by the phrase "the squeaky wheel gets the grease," which means that low-income students, whose parents are too overburdened by other responsibilities to pressure the school about placement issues, get placed by the school without parent recommendations (Braddock, 1990; Ekstrom, 1992).

Since low tracks are supposed to be related to students' perceived ability to learn, the curriculum offered in them is simpler and less fulfilling. Not surprisingly, when students are placed in different tracks, the achievement differences between them widen. Lower track classes have less time devoted to instruction (and more to behavior), and give less homework. Lower track students also show more alienation from school, exhibit more classroom misconduct, and have higher dropout rates (Oakes, 1985).

Recent attempts to detrack schools around the country have identified a number of factors that ensure successful detracking: (1) It is



said that schools must change from a hierarchical and exclusionary culture to a culture of inclusiveness. That is, teachers, parents, and students alike must believe in the right and ability of students from every background to learn from the best kind of curriculum. They must also be convinced that all students can gain academically and socially from learning together and from each other. (2) Parent involvement is said to be necessary to a successful detracking process. (3) There are the professional development and support. (4) Change must be phased-in. (5) All routines that separate students from each other or exclude some students must be rethought in the light of the goal of inclusiveness. (6) Although detracking takes place at the school level, a supportive policy coupled with technical assistance at the district and state levels is important (Wheelock, 1992).

In addition, since tracking is deeply interwoven with standardized testing practices, assessment programs must also be rethought along the lines suggested in the preceding section. New forms of performance-based testing must be instituted that stress the interactive, problem-solving, and egalitarian methods of a detracked school (Ascher, 1990).

Finally, instruction and curriculum (covered in the next section) must be geared toward heterogeneous groups of students. In a detracked school, teachers do not have a homogeneous group in which to pace their instruction to the "average" student; they must individualize learning through personalized assignments, learning centers, cooperative learning, and tutoring.

Although only a few schools have completely detracked, a comparison of homogeneous classrooms with heterogeneous classrooms in a district that was in the process of detracking suggests that minority students may experience a significant change in their teacher-student interactions when classrooms are heterogeneous. In this study (Villegas & Watts, 1992), teachers in low-ability classes spent more time telling



minority students what to do than white students, and they also criticized black students more than white students. In middle-group classes, teachers spent more time giving information to and eliciting information from minority students than white students. And in high-ability classes, teachers initiated more academically-oriented interactions with their white students than with their minority students, but focused more frequently on the behavior of their minority students. By contrast with these three homogeneous track situations, in the heterogeneously grouped classes, teachers engaged in interactions with minority students that were less controlling and less behavior oriented; in short, they were more like their interactions with whites.

Restructuring Models

Over the past several years, as sci. ool improvements generated by the top-down legislation of the standards movement appeared limited, a growing call to "restructure" schools was heard. The word "restructuring" has had a variety of meanings, from school-based management to teacher empowerment, but all its connotations have included a reawakened enthusiasm for grassroots reform. However, few administrators have the time, creativity, funds, or confidence to design their own reforms from scratch. Thus, in many districts school restructuring has meant a reliance on apparently successful restructuring models.

In this section we review three school restructuring models that have been particularly popular among schools serving poor, predominantly minority students: James Comer's School Development Program, Robert Slavin's Success for All, and Henry Levin's Accelerated Schools. All three models were developed out of an urgency to end the ineffectiveness of schools educating poor minority students; all attempt to undo the hierarchical organizations that too often give poor minority students the fewest educational opportunities; all three emerge from a belief that all

students can learn, and that expectations must be high for all students. Yet because the three models assume that school change must begin with each school building, where both students' needs and educational resources are always unique, a common goal of their originators has been to enable quite different schools to replicate the essential aspects of their models, while responding to their specific situational needs. Currently, there are approximately 165 School Development Programs, about 50 Success for All programs, and around 140 Accelerated Schools throughout the country (Ascher, 1993).

Comer's School Development Program (SDP) is a response to the common distrust and alienation between school people and urban families, and reflects Comer's belief that, to learn well, children have to form attachments and bond with their teachers. Calling on teachers, school staff, and parents to work together, the SDP seeks to reconnect the lost ties between the home and the school and to turn the school into a nurturing place (Comer, 1980).

In its attempt to create collaborative participation, the program uses three vehicles: multi-level parent involvement, a school planning management team, and a mental health team. On the assumption that teaching cannot be improved without bringing parents into the process, and that parents should be in the school before problems occur, parents are used as classroom assistants, participate on the school planning management team, and sponsor school activities such as potluck suppers, book fairs, etc. The school planning management team, which includes parents, teachers, school staff, and a mental health specialist, meets weekly. It is responsible for creating a comprehensive school plan and for addressing school climate, academic achievement, and public relations. Finally, the mental health team, which includes a variety of health professionals, is responsible for assuring that individual problems are considered ecologically. Thus, they begin by first suggesting ways to

manage early and potential problem behavior by changing school policy and programming, and only when this does not work do they treat the individual child or teacher as having a problem (Comer, 1980; 1989).

Although the School Development Program stresses the acquisition of basic skills, the model generally leaves pedagogical issues to the schools themselves, and a variety of instructional programs can be found at SDP schools (Ascher, 1992).

By contrast, Success for All (SFA), developed by Robert Slavin and his colleagues at Johns Hopkins University, offers very specific guidance on the components of schools' instructional programs. Based on research showing what works with at-risk students, the SFA model has several thrusts: early intervention in literacy learning, before students fall behind; immediate and intense correctives, inside the regular classroom, when learning problems appear; and parent involvement in the support of the learning (Slavin, Madden, Karweit, Livermon & Dolan, 1990). Although SFA is constructed specifically for schools whose resources are enriched by Chapter 1, taking on the model means restructuring the entire school, rather than using Chapter 1 funds for pull-outs or other special programs.

Specifically, the model contains such specific interventions as language development in a prekindergarten or a full-day kindergarten; a *Beginning Reading* curriculum, initiated in kindergarten or first grade and continuing through the primer level; heterogeneous groups, except during a 90-minute reading/language arts period; one-to-one tutoring; and a family support team that trains parent volunteers, coordinates social services, and relates to parents regarding student behavior (Slavin, Madden, Karweit, Dolan, & Wasik, 1992). Although schools must find a way to institute each of these components, they can substitute a different reading program than the one recommended by SFA, or use Comer's parent involvement program instead of SFA's parent program.



Finally, the Accelerated Schools (AS) model, developed by Henry Levin and his colleagues at Stanford University, is based on the belief that schools improve through organizational change. The critical idea is that when teachers and students have the power to plan educational activities, learning improves; when they do not, instruction becomes "a litany of mechanical activities." Inspired by workers' cooperatives and workplace democracy, AS is based on a "collaborative inquiry" model that drives both school governance and learning (Ascher, 1992). A common vision, developed at the school site by school staff, students, parents, and the community, must use the strengths of each (Levin & Hopfenberg, 1991).

The principle vehicles for governance in Accelerated Schools are a steering committee, composed of the principal, representative teachers, other school staff, students, and parents; cadres, which are organized around particular areas like assessment, mathematics, or scheduling, and meet on a weekly basis; and the school as a whole, which must approve all major decisions about curriculum, instruction, and resource allocation that have implications for the entire school (Levin, 1987).

Despite this stress on organization, it is in fact the instruction of an AS that gives it its name. In contrast to existing models of remedial and compensatory education, AS is supposed to give urban students a particularly enriched and accelerated type of instruction. While Levin and his colleagues resist legislating specific curriculum or instructional methods, it is their belief that when "collaborative inquiry" drives decisions about what to teach, learning will also be based on problem-solving.

Although both Comer and Levin have been wary about using traditional tests to evaluate the performance of students in the schools following their models (and the Levin group has been creative in rethinking assessment of its program), all three educators have bowed to the importance of standardized tests in educational research. Thus, a good



deal of information on test scores of students in schools using each of these models has been released. Unfortunately, however, the very strength of these models—that they each allow for quite idiosyncratic projects—has created problems in systematic comparison, so the only definitive statement that can be made is that students in schools adopting one of the three models generate gains over their peers. All three models also show improvements in school attendance by students and teachers, as well as in parent participation.

What causes the gains in each of these models? Perhaps it is because Comer's School Development Program heals breaches between the family and the school and creates an ethos of caring, Slavin's Success for All gives students the cognitive skills they need, and Levin's Accelerated Schools provides a critical organizational change that releases both school staff and students for learning. In fact, both Levin and Comer might well argue that the Success for All program would experience even greater gains if, instead of being a package developed by researchers outside the school, it was generated by the school staff, parents, and students themselves. On the other hand, Slavin might well counter that participation does not always lead to the wisest of educational solutions, and that the other two programs could easily become more effective, if only they paid more attention to instituting proven instructional strategies. The truth is, however, given the existing research, that there is no way to argue why one particular model or another is succeeding. Because all three models contain a number of ingredients, it is impossible to isolate the power of any one component, or even of why each is successful (Ascher, 1993).

Heterogeneous Groupings and Cooperative Education

The preponderance of restructuring programs that advocate bringing children of all abilities together into regular classrooms has



created a rush to provide teachers with models for teaching mixed-ability classes (Levin, 1987; Oakes, 1985). Of these, cooperative education has been among the most popular (Mills & Durden, 1992) and most heavily researched (Slavin, 1990). Developed by Robert Slavin and his colleagues at Johns Hopkins University, cooperative learning involves groups of students who share responsibility for each other's learning. Currently a number of packaged models exist for cooperative education, including "Team Assisted Individualization" (TAI) and "Cooperative Integrated Reading and Composition" (CIRC). While some models insert a competitive element, others stress the building of team scores by mutual cooperation (Slavin, 1990).

However, Mills and Durden (1992) have pointed out that two issues tend to be confused in the literature on heterogeneous versus homogeneous groupings: the composition of classes and the teaching process. For example, research on cooperative learning has often been used to endorse the effectiveness of heterogeneous groupings, even though the research studies cooperative learning approaches with students who have a rather narrow as well as wide range of knowledge and skills.

Several questions remain unanswered. Will students at the far end of tested ability still contribute equally, feeling equally engaged, and learn the same amount in a particular subject? If high ability students are allowed to proceed at their own pace within heterogeneous groupings, will the gap between them and low ability students continue to increase? Are there some subjects, as Slavin suggests is the case for reading, where students still need to be grouped by ability?

Finally, the enthusiasm for mixed ability classes has tended to ignore the importance of *what* is taught, and *how* the teaching occurs. We turn to these issues in the next two sections.



Multicultural Education

Unlike most other efforts to educate students with special needs, multicultural education has, with rare exceptions, been neither legally mandated nor systematically codified (Olsen & Mullen, 1990). Nor has there been much agreement on an appropriate and specific definition of the term. Indeed, it has often been defined so broadly as to include "any set of processes by which schools work with rather than against oppressed groups" (Sleeter, 1992, p. 141). This lack of precise definition, tied to a serious lack of funding sources, has meant that research into the methods and results of multicultural education has been seriously limited (Grant & Miliar, 1992). In fact, as recently as 1967, almost no research studies had been conducted (Sleeter & Grant, 1987). Still, multicultural programs are highly visible—and hotly contested—components of educational systems, particularly in urban schools, where minority students often constitute a majority of the student enrollment (Villegas, 1991).

Multicultural education originated in the 1960s and '70s as a response to the long history of efforts to "assimilate" minority groups into the dominant American culture (Sobol, 1990; McCarthy, 1990). It was also conceived as a corrective to the compensatory approaches which arose at the same time, many of which relied upon assumptions of cultural deprivation and the necessity of helping students to overcome their presumed deficits (McCarthy, 1990). Nevertheless, multicultural education has often taken the form of compensatory programs, aimed at the "transition" of minority students into the mainstream (Gay, 1990).

Efforts to incorporate multiculturalism into the educational system have been largely curricular, usually a relatively modest effort to insert minority representatives into textbooks and lesson plans as well as into the classroom without also addressing broader issues of equity and access (Grant & Millar, 1992). Efforts to adapt and revise this "inclusionary"



model have, as Gay (1990) suggests, emphasized a broader and more pluralistic ideological framework which goes beyond simple inclusion in order to advance equitable access to education and promote "positive attitudes" toward diversity.

The second wave of multicultural education has, like the first, been largely curricular in nature, although it has also taken steps to raise the "sensitivity" of both students and teachers (McDiarmid, 1990). Attempting to reach all students rather than just minority students, it integrates a multicultural approach into all aspects of education, addressing the cultural assets unique to each culture rather than continuing to draw upon "cultural deficit" models (McCarthy, 1990). Its goal is to shift curricular emphasis away from mere inclusion in order to create a multicultural perspective, thus both furthering the goal of integration and broadening the cultural resources of the educational process (Gomez, 1991; Capital Area School Development Association, 1991; Swartz, 1992).

The results have been mixed. Programs to increase teacher sensitivity to cultural diversity have had little success. McDiarmid's (1990) study of one such multicultural Teacher Training Program in Los Angeles, in fact, found that teachers continue to support remedial tracking programs and even to think that, as he puts it, "not all children can learn the same things." Other studies have shown similar results (McCarthy, 1990).

In addition, as the recent contentious debates over "political correctness" and "cultural literacy" have shown, there has been considerable public—and political—resistance to the introduction of multicultural perspectives into the classroom, most often couched in terms of a "threat" to America's traditional emphasis on a strictly European heritage (Schlesinger, 1991; Fact Finders, Inc., 1991).



One result of this politicization of multicultural education has been a pervasive watering-down of the multicultural textbooks available to school districts, as publishers are forced to compromise quality in order to assure that they offend nobody (Lockwood, 1992). Such a practice, unfortunately, merely reinforces the already undemanding curricula typical of compensatory education and lower track programs for minority students (Villegas, 1991).

The single largest problem facing multicultural education programs is the tendency, most clearly seen in the proliferation of inoffensive and undemanding textbooks, to see cultures—even multi-cultures—as monolithic structures rather than as subtle and diverse collections of individual people (Frasier, 1992). The most promising multicultural efforts attempt to address this challenge, creating programs which reflect the cultural specificity of a particular classroom, maintain a high level of intellectual expectation, and are flexible enough to answer the needs of individual students (Swartz, 1992; Shulman & Mesa-Bains, 1990).

Learning Styles Issues

In the section on special needs programs, we developed a critique of educational programming aimed to help low-income and minority students overcome deficits. We pointed out that among the unintentional effects of these special needs programs are a resegregation of poor and minority students, as well as a diluted curriculum that too often reinforces, rather than compensates for, the educational disadvantages of these students. As Winfield and Manning (1992) wrote, under this system many teachers have become "general contractors," avoiding the less academically able students by relegating them to special programs.

Here, we extend our analysis to learning approaches based on difference rather than on deficit.



By making clear that schooling was not helping a growing segment of the student population, the reform movement of the 1980s in turn generated a movement to create more promising practices for poor and minority students—practices that, as their advocates have admitted, will generate more fundamental changes than simply the legislation of higher educational standards. As the Quality Education for Minorities Project (1990, p. 3) has put it, assuming responsibility for the learning of minority students means in part accepting the fact that "people learn in many different ways." This sense of student diversity includes differences that follow race, ethnic, and cultural lines, as well as those that follow lines of social class and gender.

The new emphasis on difference is "not meant to suggest that no poor children come to school seriously lacking in school-relevant experiences" (Knapp & Shields, 1990, p. 754). However, those like Knapp and Shields, who want educational programming to stress difference rather than deficit, argue that a focus on deficit runs two risks: first that, "because [students'] patterns of behavior, language use, and values do not match those required in the school setting," teachers are too likely to set low standards for them; and "second, because teachers and administrators fail to adapt and take advantage of the strengths that these students do possess," over time a cycle of failure and despair is created, "culminating in students' turning their backs on school and dropping out" (p. 755). In other words, on an instructional level, the deficit model reproduces the same vicious circle identified as inherent in tracking.

The difference approach to schooling also shares some goals with that of multicultural education. While the deficit approach has generally presupposed a goal of assimilation to a middle-class white norm, the difference approach, like multicultural education, assumes a goal of cultural pluralism, "accommodation without assimilation" (Ogbu, 1985), or the mutual creation by students and teachers of a "hybrid culture" (Au &



Kawakami, 1991). As a result, we have "constructivism" in mathematics and the "whole language movement" in literacy, both of which involve interaction with students as part of curriculum creation (Carnine, 1992).

The stress on the diversity among American students has led to a burgeoning of studies which investigate differences in students' learning styles. In general, the presupposition of these studies has been that culture, socioeconomic status and other aspects of a person's background all affect the ways in which they "prefer" to learn (Jacobs, 1990). For example, "classroom approaches responsive to the culture of Hawaiian children do not work well in classrooms of Navajo children" (Au & Kawakami, 1991, p. 284). And, as Gilbert and Gay (1985) have written regarding poor black students, while schools must hold the same high standards for all students, they need to use special methods with this group. Gilbert and Gay argue that the several arenas in which low-income black students often experience conflict with the school—learning styles, interactional or relational styles, communication styles, and perception of involvement—all need to be considered in new instructional methods.

In fact, learning style research in a number of academic subjects has suggested that, if differences in styles are taken into consideration, the achievement of students improves significantly. This work has been done with particular emphasis on literacy (Au & Kawakami, 1991), reading (Carbo, 1988), and mathematics (Frankenstein & Powell, 1992).

Relating differences in learning styles to racial, ethnic, and social class background has also aroused concern that it might turn into an excuse for a new round of discriminatory practices with minority students (Gordon, 1988). Thus, researchers have suggested that, although there are enormous variations in the way students learn, ethnic status and other sociological differences should not be linked to pedagogy. For example, using a "learning style inventory" which measures preferences concerning

stimuli, environment, emotional responsiveness, working alone or with peers, physical mobility, and so on, Dunn, Beaudry & Klavas (1989), among the strongest proponents of recognizing differences in learning styles, argue that, while there are great differences among student preferences in these areas, "there are as many within-group differences as between group differences."

The focus on learning styles has also led to the position that, whatever the learning styles with which students come to school, they should have an opportunity to learn a repertoire of learning styles (Saravia-Shore & Arvizu, 1992). This is to prevent their being stuck in a particular cultural or gender niche. Moreover, it has been pointed out that it is less productive to spend time diagnosing students' learning styles than to create an environment that offers a diversity of learning opportunities (Saravia-Shore & Arvizu, 1992).

Attention to the relationship between family background and learning styles has stimulated a strand of researchers who support the goal of cultural pluralism to start their analysis by paying attention not only to differences in cultural background, but to the prestige and range of possibilities enjoyed by the various minority groups within the larger society. As Ogbu (1987) has written, the real issue in the academic performance of minority children is not whether the children use a different cognitive or interaction style, but rather:

first, whether the children come from a segment of society where people have traditionally experienced unequal opportunity to use their education or school credentials in a socially and economically meaningful and rewarding manner; second, whether or not the relationship between the minorities and the dominant-group members who control the public schools has encouraged the minorities to perceive and define school learning as an instrument for replacing their cultural identity with the cultural identity of their "oppressors" without full reward or assimilation; and



third, whether or not the relationship between the minorities and the schools generates the trust that encourages the minorities to accept school rules and practices that enhance academic success (p. 334).

Though Ogbu and his colleagues do not advocate changes in specific instructional strategies, their analysis suggests sources of conflict in students which prevent achievement. As Fordham and Ogbu (1986) have written, "one major reason black students do poorly in school is that they experience inordinate ambivalence and affective dissonance in regard to academic effort and success" (p. 177). This ambivalence is due in part to their fear that success carries the threat of a loss in racial identity. Thus, they argue that "the unique academic learning and performance problems created by the burden of acting white should be recognized and made a target of educational policies and remediation effort" (p. 203). Students must be given a route to achievement which does not imply losing their racial identity or assimilating into the white world.

Parent Involvement

It has become fashionable in the 1990s to say that "families and schools are partners in education." Beyond the belief that parent involvement spurs student achievement, what this "partnership" means is often vague. Certainly, the partnership between parents and schools is often not one of equals (Fine, 1991). Still, there has been a significant turnabout since a little more than a decade ago when Edmonds (1982) and others in the school effectiveness movement were adamant that parents had to be taken out of the school achievement equation. In an effort to make schools responsible for the success of all children, it seemed politically dangerous to allow schools to blame the achievement of low-income students on anything their parents did or did not do. What has happened to cause this change? And what kinds of parent involvement are being advocated today?



The increasingly fragmented and stressed family, particularly in urban areas, has both broadened the role of schools and spurred the development of programs to help parents become involved in their children's education (Flaxman & Inger, 1991). In fact, since increasing numbers of students live with aunts, siblings, grandparents, and other guardians, Fine (1991) has argued that schools should really talk about "family," rather than "parent," involvement. While family breakdown has prompted schools to take on such traditional parenting functions as sex and drug education, and arrangements for health examinations, the large number of young and poorly educated parents has also prompted schools to reach out with a variety of programs to help parents participate in their children's schooling, both at the school site and at home.

Currently, four strategies for parent involvement predominate in the national dialogue: 1) school choice by parents; 2) parent participation in the school management process; 3) parent training programs for those who want or are thought to need them; and 4) creation of family resource and support programs (Flaxman & Inger, 1991). Some of these strategies have already been referred to in other sections of this document.

Parents as Choosers. In the school choice section above, we treated some of the complexities of a parent involvement strategy focused on asking parents to choose their children's schools. By introducing a market mechanism, parent choice is said to make school bureaucracies more accountable. However, problems resulting from a low level of information about schools, the fact that parents often choose a school for convenience rather than for its academic reputation, and the general reluctance of poor families to "choose to choose" all make school choice a questionable strategy—at least when unaccompanied by a variety of parent support programs. Moreover, when students attend schools more distant from their neighborhood, it is more difficult to bring parents to the school site to involve them in other activities. Thus school choice may actually reduce



other areas of parent involvement. Finally, the hypothesis that when parents have the option of removing their children from a school, the school will be forced to be more "competitive" and, thus, deliver better and more responsive instruction has so far been unsustained (Carnegie Foundation, 1992).

Parents as Managers. As part of restructuring projects, parents and the community are also playing a larger role in both defining educational objectives and making the daily decisions of running a school. We have briefly discussed parent involvement in three restructuring projects:

Accelerated Schools, Success for All, and the School Development Program. Both AS and the SDP include a school management role for parents. Parent involvement with a more direct management function is exemplified by the Local School Councils in Chicago, each of which is comprised of parents and community members, as well as the principal. Demonstrating how parent involvement can make changes to improve student achievement, the Chicago Local School Councils, in two of their initial decisions, reduced class size and cleared teachers' schedules of paperwork so that they could devote more time to teaching (Flaxman & Inger, 1991).

Parents as Learners. A wide range of packaged programs now exist which schools can use to develop parenting skills. They include PET, Parent Effectiveness Training, and STEP, Systematic Training for Effective Parenting. These programs help parents enhance their children's communication skills, such as active listening and conflict resolution. Other packaged programs help strengthen parents' desires to do whatever is best for their children. Family Matters, a program aimed at "hard-to-reach" parents, attempts to develop a strong rapport between parents and school staff, in part through home visits by staff, helping parents to help with homework, and helping parents to develop support networks (Flaxman & Inger, 1991).



Parent Support Programs. The fourth strategy for parent involvement is the provision of direct services to parents through home visiting services, job counseling and training, health clinics, substance abuse treatment, support and discussion groups, etc. Although there have been political controversies over whether this is an arena schools should enter, pressure to relieve the stress in children's homes has made this a growing area of intervention (Flaxman & Inger, 1991).

SCHOOL-COMMUNITY RELATIONS

During the past decade, one of the most pervasive models for restructuring urban schools was the collaboration between schools and communities, involving not only parents, but also businesses, schools of higher education, health service providers, and other community organizations in the educational process. Like Head Start, this strategy is based on a recognition that successful education must be comprehensive; it must find ways to meet children's social- and health-related needs in addition to developing their cognitive skills. Because, as Dolan (1992) puts it, "schools are where the children are" (p. 1), many school-community collaborations have focussed on the delivery of human services within the schools, integrating programs which would otherwise be scattered throughout the community and, thus, underutilized. One of the most successful, although controversial, kinds of collaborations have been between schools and hospitals, which have provided school-based health and mental health clinics. The need for such comprehensive programs is clear: as Carr (cited in Carnegie Foundation, 1992) has pointed out, schools, even when they lack sufficient resources, "have been called upon to take over roles formerly played by the family, churches, and other agencies, ranging from sex education to housing and feeding children from dawn to dusk" (p. 77).



Many school-community collaborations have had success in bringing increased services to school children (Ascher, 1988). Still, a 1992 study of 42 school-community collaboratives by the League of Schools Reaching Out (Davies, Burch, & Johnson, 1992) found that while two-thirds of these schools, the largest number of which were at the elementary level, had established partnerships with a wide variety of community agencies, few of them had developed truly comprehensive programs to address the full range of community and family needs. Indeed, while some of these schools have systematically attempted to redefine their roles as service providers, traditional forms of "collaboration," such as the parent-teacher conference, remain the most wide-spread strategies for "reaching out" to students and their families.

Thus, much of the success of human-services collaboratives has been limited to the peripheries of the educational process. In addition, a 1987-88 survey by the National Center for Educational Statistics (cited in Clark, 1991) found that, in urban areas, 54 percent of collaboratives were with businesses, compared to only 17 percent with community service providers. While some of these school-business collaboratives have attempted to provide comprehensive services, most have emphasized short-term (though often valuable) activities, such as providing field trips and speakers, as well as some summer jobs.

Conclusion

The population of the United States is becoming ever more diverse. Despite persistent inequities that fall along racial lines, the country "continues to absorb a remarkable mixture of immigrants and even its failures imply ambitions that few other societies have ever entertained" (Ryan, 1992).



It is possible to come to a number of contradictory conclusions about the success of the nation's schools in educating diverse groups of students. Most educators would agree, however, that minority students, particularly those from low-income families, lag behind their generally more affluent white peers, and, equally important, that our average national achievement is not keeping pace with the shifting economy and changes in employment needs. That is, public schools are poorly serving the growing group that has traditionally been called disadvantaged students, a group which will provide the majority of our nation's future workers. But these schools are also underserving advantaged white students. This means that strategies to raise the achievement of one population of students alone—be it poor or middle-class students—no longer make sense.

The criticism of a remediation/compensatory approach, which leaves much of the student body untouched, then, takes on a new meaning. No longer is it sufficient just to close the gap between poor and minority students and their more advantaged, often white, peers. The remediation approach has never worked, and it has become increasingly suspect as the special needs models of education have been shown to be relatively ineffective in closing the gap between less privileged and privileged students. Instead, as educators increasingly argue, schools must be restructured, dramatically altered in their organization and delivery of services, for all students.

Unfortunately, it is easier to talk about the need for total change than to develop an ideal model of completely transformed schools. Thus, while some educators have imagined restructuring as students choosing their own school, others have envisioned new assessment practices, and still others picture new ways of teaching that successfully account for the diversity of today's students. In fact, heterogeneously grouped students, instruction which pays attention to learning styles, and a curriculum which



infuses culture and identity, all appear prominent in current discussions about the direction of urban schooling. Though the research in these areas is only beginning, there is much hope in the field that this restructuring of schooling—in all its facets—will offer an equal educational opportunity for the increasingly diverse students that attend American schools.

REFERENCES

- Administration for Children, Youth, and Families. (1990). Project Head Start statistical fact sheet (fiscal year 1990). Washington, DC: Project Head Start. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 317 313)
- Alexander, P. A., & Parsons, J. L. (1991, Summer). Confronting the misconceptions in testing and measurement. *Compensatory Education*, 62(4), 243-244.
- Anderson, L. W., & Pellicer, L. O. (1990). Synthesis of research on compensatory and remedial education. *Educational Leadership*, 48(1), 10-16.
- Archibald, D. A., & Newmann, F. M. (1988). Beyond standardized testing: Assessing authentic academic achievement in the secondary school. Reston: National Association of Secondary School Principals. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 301 587)
- Ascher, C. (1988). Urban school/community collaborations: Making them work well.

 Digest No. 45. New York: Teachers College, ERIC Clearinghouse on

 Urban Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service

 No. ED 304 497)
- Ascher, C. (1990, March). Testing students in urban schools: Current problems and new directions. Urban Diversity Series No. 100. New York: Teachers College, Institute for Urban and Minority Education and ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 322 283)
- Ascher, C. (1993). Changing schools for urban students: The School Development Plan, Accelerated Schools, and Success for All. New York: Teachers College, Institute for Urban and Minority Education and ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education.
- Au, K. H., & Kawakami, A. (1991). Culture and ownership: Schooling of minority students. Childhood Education, 67(5), 280-284.
- Bauer, E. A. (1992, Spring). NATD Survey of testing practices and issues. Educational Measurement: Issues and Practices, 11(1), 10-11.



- Blank, R. K. (1990). Analyzing educational effects of magnet schools using local district data. Sociological Practice Review, 1(1), 40-51.
- Braddock, J. M. (1990). Tracking: Implications for student race-ethnic subgroups.

 Report No.1. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Research on Effective Schooling for Disadvantaged Students. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 325 600)
- Brandt, R. (1992, May). On performance assessment: A conversation with Grant Wiggins. Educational Leadership, 49(8), 35-37.
- Bridge, R. G., & Blackman, J. (1978). Family choice in American education. A study of alternatives in American education. Vol. 4. Santa Monica: The RAND Corporation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 206 058)
- Brisk, M. E. (1991). Crossing cultural barriers: A model for schooling bilingual and English-speaking students in harmony. *Equity and Choice*, 3(2-3), 18-24.
- Burch, P. (1992). The dropout problem in New Jersey's big urban schools. New Brunswick: Rutgers University, Bureau of Government Research.
- Bureau of the Census. (1991, June). 1990 census profile, number 2: Race and Hispanic origin. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census.
- Bureau of the Census. (1992). The Asian and Pacific Islander population in the United States: March 1991 and 1990. Current Population Reports, P20-459. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.
- Capital Area School Development Association. (1991). A view from the inside:

 Multicultural education. Report of the select seminar on excellence in

 education. Albany: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No.

 ED 339 789)
- Carbo, M. (1988, December). The evidence supporting reading styles: A response to Stahl. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 70(4), 323-327.
- Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. (1992). School choice: A special report. Princeton: Author.
- Carnine, D. (1992, March). Innovations for diverse learners: Discriminating or discriminatory? Eugene: University of Oregon.
- Census data show increasing National Diversity. (1992, June 11). Vocational Training News, 23(24), 1-2.
- Cetron, M. J. (1985). Schools of the future: How American business and education can cooperate to save our schools. New York: McGraw Hill.



- Children's Defense Fund. (1991). Child poverty in America. Washington, DC: Author.
- Children's Desense Fund. (1992). City child poverty data from the 1990 Census. Washington, DC: Author.
- Chubb, J. E., & Moe, T. M. (1990). *Politics, markets, and America's schools*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institute. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 336 851)
- Cibulka, J. G. (1990). Choice and the restructuring of American education. In W. Boyd & H. J. Walberg, (Eds.), Choice in education: Potential and problems. Berkeley: McCutchen.
- Cibulka, J. G. (1992). Diversity in urban schools. In J. G. Ward & P. Anthony (Eds.), Who pays for student diversity? Population changes and educational policy. Newbury Park: Corwin Press.
- Clark, T. A. (1991). The collaboration to build competence: The urban superintendents' perspective. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.
- Coleman, J. S., Campbell, E. Q., Hobson, C. J., McPartland, J., Moody, A. M., Weinfeld, F. D., & York, R. L. (1966). *Equality of educational opportunity*. Washington, DC: US Office of Education.
- Collins, R. C. (1990). Head Start salaries: 1989-90 staff salary survey. Alexandria:
 National Head Start Association. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service
 No. ED 326 307)
- Colton, D., & Uchitelle, S. (1992). Urban school desegregation: From race to resources. In J. G. Cibulka, R. J. Reed, & K. K. Wong (Eds.), The politics of urban education in the United States: The 1991 yearbook of the Politics of Education Association. Washington, DC: The Falmer Press.
- Comer, J. P. (1980). School Power. New York: The Free Press.
- Comer, J. P. (1989). The School Development Program: A psychosocial model for school intervention. In G. L. Berry & J. K. Asamen (Eds.), Black students: Psychosocial issues and academic achievement. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Costas, M. (1991). Hispanic parental involvement. M. S. Practicum, Nova University, Fort Lauderdale. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 339 462)
- Council of Great City Schools. (1992). National urban education goals: Baseline indicators 1990-1991. Washington, DC: Author.



- Crain, R. (1992). What can New York City's career magnet high schools tell us about the choice debate? Paper prepared for a symposium sponsored by the Economic Policy Institute, "Choice: What Role in American Education?" Washington, DC, October 1.
- Crain, R. L., Heebner, A. L., & Si, Y. P. (1992, April). The effectiveness of New York City's career magnet schools: An evaluation of ninth grade performance using an experimental design. Macomb: National Center for Research in Vocational Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction No. ED 344 064)
- Davies, D., Burch, P., & Johnson, V. R. (1992). A portrait of schools reaching out: Report of a survey of practices and policies of family-community-school collaboration. Report No. 1. Boston: Boston University, Center on Families, Communities, Schools and Children's Learning. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 343 701)
- Davis, A. (1991). Upping the stakes: Using gain scores to judge local program effectiveness in Chapter 1. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 13(4), 380-388.
- Denbo, S., Sneed, M., & Thomas, J. (1990). School funding inequality. Paper presented to the National Committee on School Desegregation.

 Washington, DC: American University, Mid-Atlantic Equity Center.
- Dentler, R. A. (1990). Conclusions from a national study. In N. Este, D. U. Levine, & D. R. Waldrip, (Eds.), Magnet schools: Recent developments and perspectives. Austin: Morgan Printing and Publishing. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 319 840)
- Dolan, J. (1992). Models for in tating human services into the school. Report No. 30. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Research on Effective Schooling for Disadvantaged Students.
- Donato, R., & Garcia, H. (1992). Language segregation in desegregated schools: A question of equity. Equity & Excellence, 25(2-4), 94-99.
- Driscoll, M. E. (1992). Changing minds and changing hearts: Achievement and school community. Paper prepared for a symposium sponsored by the Economic Policy Institute, "Choice: What Role in American Education?" Washington, DC, October 1.
- Duckenfield, M., Hamby, J. V., & Smink, J. (1990). Effective strategies for dropout prevention: Twelve successful strategies to consider in a comprehensive dropout prevention program. Clemson: Clemson University, National Dropout Prevention Center. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 322 461)
- Dunn, R., Beaudry, J. A., & Klavas, A. (1989). Survey of research on learning styles. Educational Leadership, 46(6), 50-58.



- Edmonds, R. (1982, December). Programs for school improvement: An overview. Educational Leadership, 40(3), 4-11.
- Educational Testing Service. (1990, March). Montclair—a model magnet. Educational Testing Service Policy Notes 2(2), 1-7.
- Educational Testing Service Policy Information Center. (1990). The education reform decade. Princeton: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 326 549)
- Ekstrom, R. B. (1992). Six urban school districts: Their middle-grade grouping policies and practices. In On the right track: The consequences of mathematics course placement policies and practices in the middle grades.

 Report to the Edna McConnell Clark Foundation. Princeton and New Yor! Educational Testing Service and The National Urban League.
- Ekstrom, R. B., Goertz, M. E., Pollack, J. M., & Rock, D. A. (1987). Who drops out of high school and why? Findings from a national study. In G. Natriello (Ed.), School dropouts: Patterns and policies (pp. 52-69). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fact Finders, Inc. (1991). Public attitudes on the debate over multicultural education in New York State. In New York State united teachers 1991 education opinion survey. Final Report. Delmar: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 343 975)
- Fise, B. (1992). Desegregation in American schools: Comparative intervention strategies. New York: Praeger.
- Fine, M. (1991). Foreword. In J. A. Garlington, Helping dreams survive: The story of a project involving African-American families in the education of their children. Washington, DC: National Committee for Citizens in Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 340 805)
- Finn, C. E. (1990). Why we need choice. In W. L. Boyd & H. J. Walberg (Eds.), *Choice in education: Potential and problems.* Berkeley: McCutchen.
- Flaxman, E., & Inger, M. (1991, September). Parents and schooling in the 1990s. The ERIC Review, 1(3), 2-6.
- Folbre, N. (1992, September 21). Business to the rescue? *The Nation*, 255(8), 281-22.
- Fordham, S., & Ogbu, J. U. (1986). Black students' school success: Coping with the "burden of acting white." The Urban Review, 18(3), 176-205.
- Frankenstein, M., & Powell, A. B. (1992). Toward liberatory mathematics: Paulo Friere's epistemology and ethnomathematics. In P. McLaren & C. Lankshear (Eds.), Conscientization and oppression. London: Routledge.



- Frasier, M. M. (1992). Ethnic/minority children: Reflections and directions. In Challenges in gifted education: Developing potential and investing in knowledge for the 21st century. Columbus: Ohio State Department of Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 344 407)
- Gall, M. S. (1991). Opportunities for improved management efficiency of the Head Start Program: Performance evaluation and high risk determination.

 Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 335 157)
- Gay, G. (1990). Achieving educational equality through curriculum desegregation. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 72(1), 56-62.
- Gilbert, S. E., & Gay, G. (1985, October). Improving the success in school of poor black children. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 67(2), 133-137.
- Gomez, R. A. (1991). Teaching with a multicultural perspective. ERIC Digest. Urbana: ERIC Clearinghouse on Elementary and Early Chilanood Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 339 548)
- Gordon, E. W. (Ed.). (1988). Report of the New York Board of Regents' panel on learning styles. Albany: State Education Department.
- Grant, C. A., & Millar, S. (1992). Research and multicultural education: Barriers, needs, and boundaries. In C. A. Grant (Ed.), Research and multicultural education: From the margins to the mainstream (pp. 7-18). Washington, DC: The Falmer Press.
- Grant, L. (1988). Introduction: Regenerating and refocusing research on minorities and education. *The Elementary School Journal*, 88(5), 441-448.
- Greenhouse, L. (1991, January 16). Justices rule mandatory busing may go, even if races stay apart. The New York Times, p. A-1, B-6.
- Hacker, A. (1992). Two nations: Black and white, separate, hostile, unequal. New York: Scribners.
- Hahn, A., Danzberger, J., & Lefkowitz, B. (1987). Dropouts in America: Enough is known for action. A report for policymakers and grantsmakers. Washington, DC: Institute for Educational Leadership. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 282 948)
- Hanushek, E. A. (1989, May). The impact of differential expenditures on school performance. *Educational Researcher*, 18(4), 45-51.
- Harry, B. (1992). Cultural diversity, families, and the special education system:

 Communication and empowerment. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Haycock, K., & Duany, L. (1991, January). Developing the potential in Latino students. *Principal*, 70(3), 25-27.



- Heid, C. A. (1991). The dilemma of Chapter 1 program improvement. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 13(4), 394-398.
- Herman, J. (1992, May). What research tells us about good assessment. Educational Leadership, 49(8), 74-78.
- Herman, J., & Golan, S. (1990). Effects of standardized testing on teachers and learning-Another look. CSE Technical Report #334. Los Angeles: Center for the Study of Evaluation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 341 738)
- Herrington, C. D., & Orland, M. E. (1992). Politics and Federal aid to urban school systems: The case of Chapter One. In J. G. Cibulka, R. J. Reed & K. K. Wong (Eds.), *The politics of urban education in the United States*. Education Policy Perspectives Series. Washington, DC: The Falmer Press.
- Hill, P., & McDonnell, L. M. (1992, July). Schooling for immigrant youth. Prepared for the Teachers College Conference on Urban Education. New York: Teachers College, Institute for Urban and Minority Education.
- Hill, P. T., Foster, G. E., & Gendler, T. (1990). High schools with character. Santa Monica: The RAND Corporation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 327 597)
- Hill, P. T., Wise, A. E., & Shapiro, L. (1989). Educational progress: Cities mobilize to improve their schools. Santa Monica: The RAND Corporation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 306 321)
- Hodgkinson, H. (1988, February). The right schools for the right kids. *Educational Leadership*, 45, 10-14.
- Hodgkinson, H. (1989). The same client: The demographics of education and service delivery systems. Washington, DC: Institute for Educational Leadership and Center for Demographic Policy. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 312 757)
- Hodgkinson, H. (1990, September). Reform versus reality. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 73(1), 9-16.
- Ima, K. (1991, Summer). What do we know about Asian and Pacific Islander language minority students? A report to the California Department of Education's Bilingual Education Office. San Diego: San Diego State University.
- Jacobs, R. L. (1990, February). Learning styles of black high, average, and low achievers. *The Clearing House*, 63(6), 253-54.
- Jaeger, R. M. (1992, October). World class standards, choice, and privatization: Weak measurement serving presumptive policy. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 74(2), 118-128.



- Kellogg, J. B. (1988, November). Forces of change. Phi Delta Kappan, 70(3), 118-128.
- Kennedy, M. M., Birman, B. F., & Demaline, R. E. (1987). The effectiveness of Chapter 1 services. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 289 935)
- Knapp, M. S., & Shields, P. M. (1990). Reconceiving academic instruction for the children of poverty. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 71(10), 753-758.
- Kulik, J. A. (1991, November). Ability grouping. Draft report. Javits Act Program. Ann Arbor: Author.
- Lee, V. E., & Bryk, A. S. (1992, November). Science or policy argument? A review of the quantitative arguments in Chubb and Moe's Politics, Markets and American Schools. Paper prepared for a symposium sponsored by the Economic Policy Institute, "Choice: What Role in American Education?" Washington, DC, October 1.
- LeCompte, M. D., & Dworkin, A. G. (1991). Giving up on school: Student dropouts and teacher burnouts. Newbury Park: Corwin Press.
- LeTendre, M. J. (1991). Improving Chapter 1 programs: We can do better. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 72(8), 577-581.
- Levin, H. (1987). New schools for the disadvantaged. Paper prepared for the Midcontinental Regional Educational Laboratory. Stanford: Center for Educational Research at Stanford. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 310 176)
- Levin, H. M., & Hopfenberg, W. S. (1991, January). Don't remediate: Accelerate! Principal, 70(3), 11-13. (ERIC Document Reproducation Service No. EJ 419 918)
- Lindholm, K. J. (1991). Theoretical assumptions and empirical evidence for academic achievement in two languages. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 13, 3-17.
- Lindner, S. (1990). A Comparison of dropout prevention programs in six urban areas in the United States. Master's project, Teachers College, New York. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 325 610)
- Lockwood, A. T. (1992). Whose knowledge do we teach? Focus in Change, 6, 3-7.
- Lombardi, J. (1990, September). Head Start: The nation's pride, a nation's challenge. Recommendations for Head Start in the 1990s. Young Children, 45(6), 22-29.



70

- Lucas, T., Henze, R., & Donato, R. (1990). Promoting the success of Latino language-minority students: An exploratory study of six high schools. Harvard Educational Review, 60(3), 315-340.
- Mada 3, G. F. (1992). An independent auditing mechanism for testing. Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice, 11(1), 26-29, 31.
- Madaus, G. F., & Kellaghan, T. (1991). Curriculum evaluation and assessment. In Jackson, P. W. (Ed.), Handbook of research on curriculum. New York:

 Macmillan.
- Mallory, N. J., & Goldsmith, N. A. (1991). The Head Start experience. ERIC Digest. Urbana: ERIC Clearinghouse on Elementary and Early Childhood Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 327 313)
- Massey, D. S. (1992, September). American apartheid: Segregation and the making of the underclass. *Poverty and Race Research Action Council*, 1(4), 1-4.
- Massey, D. S., & Eggers, M. L. (1990, Spring). The ecology of inequality:

 Minorities and the concentration of poverty 1970-1980. *American Journal of Sociology*, 96(1), 1153-1188.
- McCarthy, C. (1990). Race and curriculum: Social inequality and the theories and politics of difference in contemporary research on schooling. New York: The Falmer Press.
- McDiarmid, G. W. (1990). What to do about differences? A study of multicultural education for teacher trainees in the Los Angeles Unified School District.

 Report No. NCRTE-RR-90-17. East Lansing: National Center for Research on Teacher Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 325 441)
- McDonnell, L. M. (1989). Restructuring American schools: The promise and the pitfalls. Brief No. 6. New York: Teachers College, National Center on Education and Employment. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 314 547)
- Mehrens, W. A. (1992, Spring). Using performance assessment for accountability purposes. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 11(1), 3-20.
- Metz, M. H. (1986). Different by design: The context and character of three magnet schools. New York: Routledge, Keegan & Paul.
- Miller-Jones, D. (1989, February). Culture and testing. American Psychologist, 44(2), 360-366.
- Mills, C. J., & Durden, W. G. (1992, Winter). Cooperative learning and ability grouping: An issue of choice. Gifted Child Quarterly, 36(1), 1-16.



- Millsap, M. A., Turnbull, B., Moss, M., Brigham, N., Gamse, B., & Marks, E. (1992). The Chapter 1 implementation study: Interim report. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Office of Policy and Planning.
- Mitchell, V., Russell, E. S., & Benson, C. S. (1989). Exemplary urban career-oriented secondary school programs. Berkeley: National Center for Research in Vocational Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 312 502)
- Mueller, D. J., Chase, C. I., & Walden, J. D. (1988, February). Effects of reduced class size in primary classes. *Educational Leadership*, 45(5), 48-50.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (1992, February). Language characteristics and educational achievement: A look at Asian and Hispanic eighth graders in NELS: 88. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement.
- National Foundation for the Improvement of Education. (1990). A blueprint for success. Lessons learned: NFIE's dropout prevention initiative. Washington, DC: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 331 785)
- National Research Council. (1989). A common destiny. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Natriello, G., McDill, E., & Pallas, A. M. (1990). Schooling disadvantaged children: Race against catastrophe. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Natriello, G., Pallas, A. M., & Riehl, C. (1991, April). Creating more responsive student evaluation systems for disadvantaged students. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Research on Effective Schooling for Disadvantaged Students. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 333 042)
- Navarrete, C., Wilde, J., Nelson, C., Martinez, R., & Hargett, G. (1990, Summer).

 Informal assessment in educational evaluation: Implications for bilingual education programs. Washington, DC: National Clearinghouse for Bilingual Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 337 041)
- Noblit, G. W., & Dempsey, V. (1992, Winter). Creating organizationally effective desegregated schools. *Equity and Excellence*, 25(2-4), 113-119.
- Oakes, J. (1985). Keeping track: How schools structure inequality. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Oakes, J. (1992, May). Can tracking research inform practice? Technical, normative, and political considerations. *Educational Researcher*, 21(4), 12-21.



- Odden, A. (1987). How fiscal accountability and program quality can be insured for Chapter 1. In D. P. Doyle, J. S. Michie, & B. I. Williams, (Eds.), *Policy options for the future of compensatory education: Conference papers.*Washington, DC: Research and Evaluation Associates. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 298 209)
- Office of Bilingual Education and Minority Languages Affairs. (1990). Staffing the multilingually impacted schools of the 1990s: Proceedings of the national forum on personnel needs for districts with changing demographics.

 Washington, DC: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 335 423)
- Ogbu, J. U. (1985, December). Research currents: Cultural-ecological influences on minority school learning. *Language Arts*, 62(8), 860-869.
- Ogbu, J. U. (1987). Variability in minority school performance: A problem in search of an explanation. Anthropology and Education Quarterly, 18, 312-34.
- Ogle, L. T., Alsalam, N., & Rogers, G. T. (1991, June). The condition of education, 1991. Volume 1: Elementary and secondary education. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement, National Center for Education Statistics (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 330 121)
- Ollie, B. W. (1989, Winter). School desegregation efforts in the City of Brotherly Love. *Equity and Excellence*, 24(2), 48-52.
- Olsen, L., & Mullen, N. A. (1990). Embracing diversity: Teachers' voices from California's classrooms. San Francisco: California Tomorrow. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 326 597)
- Orfield, G., Monfort, F., & Aaron, M. (1989). Status of school desegregation 1968-1986. A report of the Council of Urban Boards of Education and the National School Desegregation Research Project, University of Chicago.

 Washington, DC: National School Boards Association, Council of Urban Boards of Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 307 358)
- Orland, M. E. (1990). Demographics of disadvantage. In J. I. Goodlad & P. Keating, (Eds.), Access to knowledge: An agenda for nation's schools. New York: The College Board. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 337 509)
- Ovando, C. J. (1988, April). English Only movement: Confrontation with language diversity. Paper presented at the 17th Annual Meeting of the National Association for Bilingual Education, Hornton. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 295 464)



- Passow, A. H. (1988). Curriculum and instruction in Chapter 1 programs: A look back and a look ahead. Trends and Issues No. 11. New York: Teachers College, Institute for Urban and Minority Education and ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 306 346)
- Pear, R. (1992, September 4). Ranks of U.S. poor reach 35.7 million, the most since '64. The New York Times, p. A1, A14.
- Peng, S. S., Wang, M. C., & Walberg, H. J. (1992, January). Demographic disparities of inner-city eighth graders. *Urban Education*, 25(4), 441-459.
- Porter, R. P. (1990). Forked tongue: The politics of bilingual education. NY: Basic Books.
- Portes, A., & Gran, D. E. (1991, October). Characteristics and performance of high school students in Dade County (Miami SMSA) schools. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University, Center for Research on Effective Schooling for Disadvantaged Students. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 336 436)
- Quality Education for Minorities Project. (1990, January). Education that works:

 An action plan for the education of minorities. Cambridge: Massachusetts
 Institute of Technology.
- Ramirez, J. D., Yuen, S. D., Ramey, D. R., & Pasta, D. J. (1991). Longitudinal study of structured English immersion strategy, early-exit, and late-exit transitional bilingual education programs for language-minority children. Final Report. San Mateo: Aguirre International. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 330 216)
- Raver, C. C., & Zigler, E. F. (1991, May). Three steps forward, two steps back: Head Start and the measurement of social competence. *Young Children*, 46(4), 3-8.
- Reed, S., & Sautter, R. C. (1990, June). Children of poverty: The status of 12 million young Americans. *Phi Delta Kappan, Special Report, 17*(10), k1-k11.
- Reynolds, A. J. (1990, April). Sources of fading effects of prekindergarten experience.

 Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Education
 Research Association, Boston, MA. (ERIC Document Reproduction
 Service No. ED 325 241)
- Rinehart, J. R., & Lee, J. F., Jr. (1991). American education and the dynamics of choice. New York: Praeger.
- Rossell, C. M. (1990). The carrot or the stick for school desegregation policy: Magnet schools or forced busing? Philadelphia: Temple University Press.



74

- Ryan, A. (1992, November 19). Twenty-first century limited. New York Review of Books, p. 20-24.
- Saravia-Shore, M., & Arvizu, S. F., (Eds.). (1992). Cross-cultural literacy: Ethnographies of communication in multiethnic classrooms. New York: Garland.
- Schlesinger, A. Jr. (1991). Report of the social studies syllabus review committee:

 A dissenting opinion. In One nation, many peoples: A declaration of cultural interdependence. New York: New York State Social Studies Review and Development Committee.
- Schmidt, P. (1992, June 10). Census data finding more are falling behind in school. Education Week, p. 1, 9.
- Schwartz, L. (1991). The myth of the at-risk student. Paper presented at the Topical Conference on At-Risk Children and Youth sponsored by the Council for Exceptional Children, New Orleans, LA. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 340 188)
- Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources. (1991). School Readiness Act of 1991. Report to accompany S. 911. Senate, 102d Congress, 1st Session. Washington, DC: Congress of the Senate. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 342 498)
- Shephard, L. A. (1991). Negative policies for dealing with diversity: When does assessment and diagnosis turn into sorting and segregation? In E. H. Hiebert (Ed.), *Literacy for a diverse society*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Shulman, J. H., & Mesa-Bains, A. (Eds.). (1990). Teaching diverse students: Cases and commentaries. San Francisco: Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 328 552)
- Sinclair, B., & Gutmann, B. (1991). A summary of state Chapter 1 participation and achievement information for 1988-89. Washington, DC: US Department of Education, Office of Policy and Planning. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 335 435)
- Slavin, R. E. (1990). Cooperative learning: Theory, research and practice. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Slavin, R. E., & Madden, N. A. (1991). Modifying Chapter 1 program improvement guidelines to reward appropriate practices. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 13(4), 369-379.
- Slavin, R. E., Madden, N. A., Karweit, N. L., Dolan, L. J., & Wasik, B. A. (1992).

 Success For All: A relentless approach to prevention and evention in elementary schools. Arlington: Educational Research Service.



- Slavin, R. E., Madden, N. A., Karweit, N. L., Livermon, B. J., & Dolan, L. (1990). Success For All: First year outcomes of a comprehensive plan for reforming urban education. *American Educational Research Journal*, 27, 255-278.
- Sleeter, C. E. (1992). Restructuring schools for multicultural education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 43, 141-148.
- Sleeter, C. E., & Grant, C. A. (1987). An analysis of multicultural education in the United States. *Harvard Educational Review*, 57, 421-444.
- Sobol, T. (1990). Understanding diversity. Educational Leadership 48(3), 27-30.
- Soto, L. D. (1991). Crossing cultural barriers: A model for schooling bilingual and English-speaking students in harmony. Equity and Choice, 7(2-3), 18-24.
- Swartz, E. (1992). Multicultural education: From a compensatory to a scholarly foundation. In C. A. Grant (Ed.), Research and multicultural education: From the margins to the mainstream (pp. 32-43). Washington, DC: The Falmer Press.
- Taeuber, K., Smock, P. J., & Taeuber, A. F. (1990, June). Resegregation of public school districts: 1968-1986. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison, Center for Demography and Ecology. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 325 575)
- Taylor, W. L., & Piche, D. M. (1990, December). A report on shortchanging children: The impact of fiscal inequity on the education of students at risk. Prepared for the Committee on Education and Labor, US House of Representatives. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 328 654)
- Timar, T. B. (1992). Urban politics and state school finance in the 1980s. In J. G. Cibulka, R. J. Reed, & K. K. Wong, (Eds.), The politics of urban education in the United States. Washington, DC: The Falmer Press.
- Toch, T. (1991). In the name of excellence. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Toch, T. (1992). Public schools of choice. American School Board Journal, 178(7), 18-20.
- Trute, J. W. (1991). Improving collaboration among primary teachers to facilitate mainstreaming of limited English proficient children. Ed.D. Practicum, Nova University, Fort Lauderdale. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 338 078)
- Useem, E. (1992, May). Getting on the fast track in mathematics. *American Journal of Education*, 100(3), 325-353.
- Valdivieso, R. (1986, Summer). Hispanics and schools: A new perspective. Educational Horizons, 64(4), 190-197.



- Villegas, A. M. (1991). Culturally responsive pedagogy for the 1990s and beyond.

 Trends and Issues Paper 6. Washington, DC: ERIC Clearinghouse on
 Teacher Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No.
 ED 339 698)
- Villegas, A. M., & Watts, S. M. (1992). Life in the classroom: The influence of class placement and student race/ethnicity. In On the right track: The consequences of mathematics course placement policies and practices in the middle grades. Report to the Edna McConneil Clark Foundation. Princeton and New York: Educational Testing Service and The National Urban League.
- Waggoner, D. (1991). Undereducation in America. New York: Auburn House.
- Waldrop, J., & Exter, T. (1991, March). The legacy of the 1980s. American Demographics, 13(3), 33-38.
- Wells, A. S. (1991). The sociology of school choice: A study of black students' participation in a voluntary transfer program. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Teachers College, New York.
- Whealey, L. D. (1991, April). Choice or elitism? American School Board Journal, 178(4), 33, 44.
- Wheelock, A. (1992). Crossing the tracks: How "untracking" can save America's schools. New York: The New Press.
- Whitte, J. F. (1991, November). First year report: Milwaukee parental choice program. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison, Department of Political Science.
- Williams, J. A. (1991). Students at risk: A comprehensive approach to dropout prevention. Dayton: Dayton City Schools. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 333 070)
- Willms, J. D., & Echols, F. H. (1992). The Scottish experience of parental choice of schools. Paper prepared for a symposium sponsored by the Economic Policy Institute, "Choice: What Role in American Education?" Washington, DC, October 1.
- Wilson, W. J. (1987). The truly disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Winfield, L. F., & Manning, J. (1992). Changing school culture to accommodate diversity. In M. E. Dillworth (Ed.), Restructuring schools: Departments of education for diversity. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Wong-Fillmore, L., & Meyer, L. M. (1992). The curriculum and linguistic minorities. In P. W. Jackson (Ed.), Handbook of research on curriculum: A project of the American educational research association. New York: Macmillan.



Zill, N., & Wolpow, E. (1990). To provide preschool programs for disadvantaged and disabled children to enhance their school readiness: Background paper on a national educational goal. Washington, DC: Child Trends, Irc. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 325 230)



Biography of Author

Carol Ascher is Senior Research Associate at the ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education, Teachers College, Columbia University. She is the author or editor of four non-fiction books and the author of a novel, *The Flood*. She has also written more than 50 monographs and 25 digests covering a wide range of urban education issues. Dr. Ascher received her doctorate in anthropology from Columbia University.

Gary Burnett is a Research and Telecommunications consultant at the ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education, Teachers College, Columbia University. He has also written several digests and other papers for the Clearinghouse. His poetry has been published in numerous journals, and he is the author of a book of literary criticism on the poet H. D. Dr. Burnett received his doctorate in English from Princeton University, and is currently enrolled in the Master of Library Science program at Rutgers University.

